# "IT'S A HUMAN RIGHTS ABUSE ... END OF!":

A Study of Young People's Attitudes to Forced Marriage and its Gendered Dimensions

- > It's an **EASY OPTION** to say yes
- > The BOYS get married and STILL HAVE THEIR FREEDOM
- > **THE DISTINCTION IS CLEAR**... you know if you're being forced or not, you know if you want to marry that person or not
- > WOMEN HAVE TO ACCEPT ABUSE as part of their lot
- > Arranged and forced **ONE INVOLVES FREE CHOICE AND CONSENT, THE OTHER DOES NOT** but this is not a clear distinction either to parents or to the young person...
- > MEN AREN'T SUPPOSED TO BE PUSHED AROUND like that
- > IT'S A FAMILY THING, you can't interfere



#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the young men and women who gave their time and their views to the project, whether through the survey or through personal interviews.

I would also like to thank the organisations and individuals, such as Southall Black Sisters, Imkaan, Newham Asian Women's Project, Ashiana, IKWRO, Changing Lives project, and Karma Nirvana, who helped to facilitate interviews for this research and/or who provide support, advocacy and expertise on the issue of forced marriage.

In addition, I would like to thank my colleagues and volunteers at Eaves for their support and input in this project and, of course, thanks also are due to the FCO for the funding that made this project possible.

H. Harvey
Research and development manager
December 2013

#### Foreword

Forced marriage is a human rights violation. It is recognised as a gendered form of abuse both in terms of the prevalence of cases (82-86% of reported cases are female) and in terms of the proportionate gendered impact of the harms of forced marriage. Forced marriage can involve kidnapping, abduction, physical and emotional abuse for all victims, male or female. It also can involve rape, the abuse of sexual and reproductive rights and of personal and sexual autonomy.

Forced marriage brings with it lasting traumatic and deleterious effects for the individuals involved. This can include damage to an individual's ability (particularly women and girls) to fulfil their potential in education, employment, and social and personal lives and to gain personal financial independence. It can result in severe mental health issues and can trap individuals in abusive and violent marriages.

The effects are damaging for the wider community as well. The perpetuation of forced marriage contributes to a lack of understanding of the practising community and feeds racist stereotypes and prejudice. Where individuals from certain communities are caught up in forced marriage, this can have implications for their full contribution to the wider social and economic fabric of society.

Forced marriages continue to occur but the actual figures are difficult to establish definitively. In 2012, the FCO reported that they provide advice and support in some form to around 1485 queries relating to forced marriage from individuals and agencies a year. Of these some 300 may turn into full cases. Ages of victims vary hugely but the majority are young people between ages 17-25. The focus of this study is these young people, and their own views on addressing forced marriage and how it impacts on men and women.

# "It's a human rights violation – end of!" A study of young people's attitudes to forced marriage and its gendered dimensions

## Foreword

## Acknowledgements

Contents	Page no
Executive Summary	1
Background to this report	5
1.1 Southall Black Sisters and BME Women's	groups' 6
campaigning on forced marriage	
1.2 UK Governments' responses to forced man	rriage 6
1.3 Human rights, political and legislative conto	ext 8
2. Literature review	11
2.1. Gender differentials	11
2.2. Young people's views	13
3. Methodology	16
3.1. Methodology and limitations	16
3.2. Ethical considerations	18
3.3. Recruitment	18
3.4. Interview and survey sample	20
3.4.1. The interview sample profile	20
3.4.2. The survey sample profile	21
4. Findings	23
4.1. What are the views of 16-25 year olds on	forced marriage, its prevalence
and relevance for them?	23
4.1.1. Marriage today	23
4.1.2. Prevalence	27
4.1.3. Distinction arranged and forced	27

4.2. Young people's level of legislative and policy awareness, views on	
criminalisation	29
4.3. Young people's views on gendered differentials of forced marriage	37
4.3.1. Women's responses	38
a) Harms	39
b) Coping strategies	41
c) Parents' strategies	42
4.3.2. Men's responses	42
a) Harms	44
b) Coping strategies	44
c) Parents' strategies	45
4.4. Young people's views on why the practice continues and how to	
address it	46
4.5. Survey respondents' reflections	53
5. Gender Implications	55
6. Conclusions and recommendations	59
6.1. Gender	59
6.2. Forced/arranged distinction	60
6.3. Intergenerational dialogue	61
6.4. Training, resourcing and accountability of practitioners	62
6.5. Criminalisation- research and monitoring	63
6.6. Match the cause to the solution	63
Appendicesi	
I Online Surveyii	
II Interview guidexi	
III Information for Participantsxiv	
IV Consentxvii	
Bibliographyxix	

#### **Executive summary**

This study sought the views of young people on marriage today with specific reference to forced and arranged marriages and their gendered dimensions. The focus on gender is twofold. It arises from the simple observation that young men are also potentially at risk of a forced marriage, that there is little help aimed at men but that men may also find it more difficult to ask for help. The second, and perhaps less explored, focus on gender relates to whether, and to what extent, gender differentials are evident in help-seeking behaviour, harms, victims' coping strategies and perpetrators' strategies. If so, what implications may this have for policy-makers, practitioners and prevention? The study also addressed young people's understanding of the concept of "force" and their views on state responses, notably the proposal to criminalise forced marriage.

The report includes a literature review and involved an online survey which drew 101 partial or complete responses and eleven one to one interviews with young people aged 16-25 closely affected by forced marriage.

#### **Findings**

Participants to this research, when asked about gender differentials were commonly unsure of whether or not forced marriage was different for men and women. Similarities were stressed in particular with regard to damage to mental health and self-esteem. Some, mainly female participants, suggested it was harder for men precisely because their sense of masculinity would render such a loss of autonomy all the more crippling as well as inhibiting their ability to ask for help. Men themselves recognised this:

"I mean you're not really going to say look I'm being forced into a marriage like not as a bloke I mean it's embarrassing really, isn't it?" (p25)

It soon emerged that participants could see significant differences even if they did not articulate them in a gendered framework. Key areas of difference related to:

#### **Harms**

Participants recognised that women may face more far-reaching and constraining harms. These may include rape, abuses of sexual and reproductive rights, potentially

domestic violence and a contraction or cessation of social life, personal autonomy, education and employment opportunities.

A smaller number of participants highlighted the cross-over with so-called honour based violence. They suggested that women running away from a forced marriage, attempting to seek a divorce or to maintain relations of their choice could attract severe retribution.

It was notable that despite being able to see the more far-reaching harms for women, participants still had the initial reaction that it was the same for men and women. Indeed, young women showed a high degree of empathy with male suffering: "Men aren't supposed to be pushed around like that" (p39) and a normalised tolerance of female suffering, "Women have to accept abuse as part of their lot." (p56)

#### Victims' evading and coping strategies

Men stressed that the best response when confronted with a possible forced marriage was to stand your ground, refuse and walk away, although recognised this may be less of an option for women. This also implied that men had low expectations of any third party interventions but placed the responsibility on the victim to avoid the marriage.

Participants recognised that men may be more likely to go through with the forced marriage and in some cases seek a divorce. Alternatively, he may try to live with the situation while continuing his life outside the marriage including a personal, social and sexual life with partner(s) of choice: "The boys get married and still have their freedom." (p36)

Participants felt that victims of forced marriage would respond differently according to gender. It was suggested that women were more likely to internalise their distress manifesting as depression, mental health issues and self harm. Men may also suffer mental health issues but may externalise this through violence or anti-social behaviour, including crime and substance abuse.

#### Parental strategies

While there was unanimity that in most cases the pressure brought to bear was predominantly emotional, participants did recognise that parents may replicate gender roles in the strategies they used to manipulate and persuade their children:

It's the same but what is used might be sometimes a bit different – to get men is like "you are the man of the family, you have to" – the sense of responsibility and grown-up adulthood so he feels older and responsible, whereas with women it's "You don't know how it will make us feel." (p41)

Young women were more likely to identify with coercive parents' conduct as innocent, benign or well-intentioned. This may reflect female social conditioning and may also play a part in their susceptibility to emotional pressures. Young men were more likely to deny their parents could force them and to see it as standing one's ground.

#### Attitudes to criminalisation and the concept of force

There was near unanimous acceptance of the view that forced marriage is a human rights abuse and therefore that there was a powerful internal logic to the proposal to criminalise. However, views were split as to whether criminalisation was a useful practical response. There was some degree of gender split here too, with boys being more ambivalent or hostile to criminalisation: "It's a family thing, you can't interfere" (p31) and girls more in favour: "I'm totally in favour of criminalisation, it's fantastic." (p32) In particular, participants felt uncertain about the implications of criminalisation and wanted to see research and monitoring to track outcomes and amend strategies accordingly.

The most intractable issue was the issue of "force". There were high levels of awareness of the official, theoretical position that force implied a lack of free, full and informed consent and could include emotional pressure. However, in practice participants found it very difficult to identify when emotional pressure would amount to force.

#### **Recommendations include** (p59):

- Incorporating this gender analysis into shaping preventative and policy measures;
- Promoting better understanding of emotional pressure as force;

- Enhanced training and accountability of professionals, with specific reference to funding the women's sector and to DFE proactively engaging with forced marriage;
- More innovative methods to engage those affected across the generations;
- Research and monitoring of the outcomes of criminalisation;
- A more nuanced and weighted policy approach that matches solutions to causes.

## "It's a human rights violation – end of!" A study of young people's attitudes to forced marriage and its gendered dimensions

#### 1. Background to this report

The research and development department at Eaves for Women received a small amount of funding from the Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO) in 2012 for a project looking at young people's attitudes to forced marriage and its gendered dimensions. The project aimed to identify young men and women's differing gendered experiences of forced marriage and to empower them to express their views on the issue. The original concept was very much a project working with groups of young people but in fact it proved more practical to deliver it as a small action research project. Most studies to date on forced marriage have focussed on forced marriage as a concept and state responses to it, or on women's experiences of forced marriage and barriers to help-seeking and support. Acknowledging this, Gangoli et al (2006) expressly called for further work on the gendered experiences of men and women in forced marriage. It is in this context that this study has been undertaken.

Eaves is a charity working on all forms of violence against women. In the course of supporting nearly 2000 women through the Sojourner<sup>1</sup> project, Eaves dealt with several women who were facing domestic violence in a marriage that sometimes initially had been arranged or forced<sup>2</sup> and who would otherwise have found it difficult to access refuge<sup>3</sup>. The research and development department at Eaves have published a wide range of research on violence against women and girls<sup>4</sup> and were keen to undertake

\_

The Sojourner project was a pilot project between November 2009 and March 2012, initiated after much lobbying by Southall Black Sisters and women's groups (No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) Coalition) which provided temporary and exceptional support to women on spousal visas facing domestic violence but subject to the NRPF rule (explained below at footnote 4)

The terms arranged and forced marriage are discussed below (see p6) the clear distinction made in official documentation, is often less clear in practice, (Gangoli et. al. ibid, Philips & Dustin, 2004)

The No Recourse to Public Funds rule is an immigration rule which means that the person entering the UK does so on the basis that they will not have recourse to public funds, which includes benefits, for a set period often called the Probation period (previously 2 years, now 5 years). They either have to have independent means or were sponsored by a third party. Women fleeing domestic violence who may need to go to a refuge would normally cover the cost of their refuge stay through their benefits being paid direct to the refuge. Consequently without access to benefits under the NRPF rule, women had either to stay in the violent relationship or potentially risk destitution.

Research has included, inter alia, Just representation: Press Reporting the Reality of Rape 2008, Men who Buy Sex 2009, Breaking Down the Barriers: A study of how Women Exit Prostitution forthcoming, Lambeth Violence Against Women and Girls Customer Insight Project 2012, Just the Women: a 2 Week Media Monitoring Report on how the Press Report Violence Against Women 2012

some gendered analysis of forced marriage. There have been growing concerns at the lack of focus on male experiences of forced marriage and support for them, but at the same time a proportionate gendered response requires a more nuanced gender analysis of forced marriage and how it plays out for men and for women.

# 1.1 Southall Black Sisters<sup>5</sup> and Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) women's groups' campaigning on forced marriage

BME women's groups in the UK have long been concerned about forced marriages and have supported those young women who face it.

In 1998, Rukshana Naz from Derby was murdered by her brother and mother. She had had an "arranged" marriage at the age of 15 but had only seen her "husband" twice since that time. She was hoping to divorce this man and be with the man of her own choice by whom she was pregnant. Her brother and mother deemed this an affront to family honour and murdered her in front of her younger brother. They both received a life sentence for the offence in 1999 (Hall, 1999).

This case, and the campaigning of Southall Black Sisters (SBS) and other women's groups on forced marriage, propelled the subject onto the national policy and media agenda.

#### 1.2 UK Governments' responses to forced marriage

The Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO) had sporadically been dealing with forced marriage cases for several years. Young women fleeing forced marriage had presented to Consulates and Embassies asking for help, and friends, family members and NGOs occasionally contacted the FCO about such cases. In 1999, the FCO and the Home Office (HO) decided that, as cases became more and more common, they needed a more concerted response.

The Home Office convened a working group to look into forced marriage and produced the report, "A Choice by Right," (2000). Launching the report and announcing the intention to devote dedicated resources to the issue of forced marriage as a human

<sup>5</sup> Southall Black Sisters is a not for profit organisation set up in 1979 to meet the needs of Black (Asian and African-Caribbean) and Minority Ethnic Women.

rights abuse, Mike O'Brien MP, then Home Office Minister (Immigration) said of forced marriage: "Multicultural sensitivity is no excuse for moral blindness." (BBC, 2000)

In addressing the issue, the working group sought to make a distinction between forced and arranged marriage. This distinction rests on consent with, forced marriage being described as a marriage in which one or both parties is subject to duress and does not give their full, free and informed consent (Home Office, 2000). Duress is assessed in a subjective context<sup>6</sup> such that the pressure was enough to overcome the mind of that particular individual at that particular time in those particular circumstances: "whether the mind of the applicant has been overborne, howsoever that was caused<sup>7</sup>." An arranged marriage, however, is described as one in which no matter how the parties were introduced they gave their full, free and informed consent. Many practitioners and academics question how valid such a distinction is in practice and reality whilst retaining the utility of it in theoretical and legal terms (Anitha & Gill 2009; Gangoli et.al 2006).

The Home and Foreign Office established what was then termed the Community Liaison Unit in October 2000, based in the FCO consular human rights section and recruited specialist NGO secondees to help devise appropriate policies, responses and casework. Over the years the FCO continued to support, develop and mainstream this work and to develop specialist guidelines across government departments until Home Office, Department for Health and Department for Education and Skills (including social services responsibility at that time) took up the agenda.

In 2005, the unit became a joint Home and Foreign Office Forced Marriage Unit. By this time the unit was recording an average of 250 - 300 cases a year, in which 85% of victims were female and 15% were male (Foreign and Commonwealth Office/Home Office, 2005). They were handling some 50-75 repatriations a year. As of 2012, the FCO report that they provide advice and support in some form to around 1485 queries relating to forced marriage from individuals and agencies a year. Their statistics currently suggest 82% of referrals involve females and 18% involve males (Foreign and Commonwealth Office/Home Office, 2012).

K. v. B. 2008 before Parker J. in the Royal Courts of Justice (Family Division FD07NOOO31) reported athttp://www.dawsoncornwell.com/en/documents/KvB.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Hirani v. Hirani (1982) Court of Appeal [1983] 4FLR 232

The majority of cases recorded reflect the UK demographics of settled second and third generation immigrants with a heavy proportion being from families that originate from Pakistan, Bangladesh and India. Cases were also reported, however, in some Arabic, Middle Eastern, African, South American and Eastern European contexts (Refuge 2008) and across a wide range of religions including Animist, Christian, Hindu, Jewish, Muslim, Sikh. The FCO statistics (Jan- Dec 2012) state that the age range of cases varied from as young as two years to an eldest of 71 years. According to their statistics, 13% of cases involve children below the age of 15 years, 22% are aged 16-17 and the majority are aged between 18 and 25. FCO also highlights that where this information was recorded, some 114 cases involved victims with disabilities and 22 involved victims who identified as lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender (LGBT).

#### 1.3 Human rights, political and legislative context

Forced marriage is covered by a range of international human rights standards including United Nations Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) 1979, UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) 1989, UN Convention on Consent to Marriage, Minimum Age for Marriage and Registration of Marriages 1962. In addition, the UN considers forced marriage under certain circumstances to amount to a form of trafficking (United Nations, 2000) and a form of slavery (United Nations, 1956).

In June 2012 (Prime Minister's Office, 2012), Prime Minister David Cameron announced that forcing someone into a marriage would become a criminal offence in England and Wales. The announcement was reinforced when it was referenced in the Queen's Speech in May 2013 (BBC, 2013).

This announcement followed several rather inconclusive consultations and Select Committee Inquiries over a number of years (2005, 2008, 2011) as to whether or not forced marriage should be criminalised. It also reflected the then-declared intention (Prime Minister's Office, 2012b) of the Government at that time to sign and ratify the Council of Europe Convention on Preventing and Combatting Violence Against Women and Domestic Violence (Istanbul Convention).<sup>8</sup> The Convention intends that there should

<sup>`</sup> 

Opened for signature on May, 2011. For full details of signatories, visit The Council of Europe's Treaty Office Website - <a href="http://conventions.coe.int/">http://conventions.coe.int/</a>

be a specific offence for forced marriage as recommended by the Council of Europe comparative study of forced marriage (2005).

The pre-existing criminal legislation relevant to forced marriage includes a range of criminal provisions such as threatening behaviour, theft, assault, kidnap, abduction, sexual assault, rape, false imprisonment and murder. In addition, civil orders had been used in forced marriage cases including injunctions, non-molestation orders, Habeus Corpus writs (Hossein, 2000) and, as of 2007, the Forced Marriage Civil Protection Act. The new proposals include both that breach of a Forced Marriage Civil Protection Order and forcing someone into a marriage become criminal offences.

While there has been support and some praise for successive governments responding to campaigning and addressing the issue as a human rights abuse there remain some concerns about the lens that is brought to bear on the problem (Philips & Dustin, 2004).

The initial response to the issue came from a Minister with responsibility for immigration and cases were addressed in the context of international marriages between UK and South Asian nationals. Lead responsibility initially sat with the FCO. This results in a continued tendency to view the problem as a foreign, international, immigration and enforcement issue (Gill & Anitha 2009). Consequently, there is a tendancy to focus on crime and immigration related responses such as raising the age of international marriage sponsors (Hester et. al. 2008), increasing the length of the probation period, increasing visa costs, tightening provisions relating to family reunification, criminalising forced marriage etc. In fact, the FCO's own guidelines highlight a multiplicity of complex and diverse motivations and manifestations of forced marriage far more wide-ranging than simple migration. These include:

- Controlling unwanted behaviour and sexuality including perceived promiscuity or being lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender, particularly the behaviour and sexuality of women;
- Controlling unwanted behaviour e.g. alcohol and drug use, wearing make-up or behaving in a way that is perceived to be too "westernised";
- Preventing unsuitable relationships e.g. outside the ethnic, cultural, religious or caste group;

- Protection of perceived "family honour";
- Long standing family commitments;
- Responding to peer group or family pressure;
- Attempting to strengthen family links;
- Ensuring land property and wealth remain within the family;
- Assisting claims for UK residence and citizenship;
- Protecting perceived cultural ideals;
- Protecting perceived religious ideals;
- Ensuring care for a child or adult with special needs.

The multiplicity of causes and motivations renders the development and application of effective measures to address forced marriage a delicate and complex task, and is revisited elsewhere in this report. (p45)

#### 2. Literature review

The vast majority of literature on forced marriages has been conducted with specific reference to the South Asian (Pakistan, Bangladesh, India) Community (Refuge 2008). This may reflect the fact that this remains the profile of the majority of reported cases. This in turn may be due to the large and established South Asian population in the UK (FCO 2007) and the relatively high proportion of young people of marriageable age in these communities (Samad and Eade 2003).

Research on forced marriage seems to fall predominantly into three main categories:

- Research which discusses the phenomenon, looks at reasons for the practice and attempts to assess the prevalence and profile or pattern of cases (Gill & Sundhari Eds 2011, Iman & Eversley 2002, Eversley & Khanum 2002, Refuge 2008);
- Research and practice guidance related to supporting victims which looks predominantly at women's experiences of forced marriage and barriers to help seeking and supportive interventions (Khanum 2008, FCO guidelines various, Thiara 2005, Izzidien 2008, MOJ);
- A further growing body of work (Southall Black Sisters 2001, Hester et. al. 2008, Philips & Dustin 2004, Chantler et. al. 2009, Wilson 2007, Gill & Anitha 2009, McAlpine et. al. 2007) focuses on State responses and theoretical frameworks to forced marriage and discusses the merits and demerits of the various approaches and their impacts<sup>9</sup>.

#### 2.1. Gender differentials

Research and statistics consistently find that anything from 82 - 86% of all reported cases involve women and girls (FCO inter alia). Forced marriage has immediate and long-term harmful effects on all victims, male or female (BMA, 2008). However, women and girls may face disproportionate harm, both in terms of the impact on life chances such as education, employment, financial and personal autonomy (HM Government, 2009) and in terms of gender specific harms relating to sexual and physical violence, sexual and reproductive rights and related mental health and self-harm (Howard et al

The full range of arguments for and against criminalisation of forced marriage is not rehearsed here but can be seen in the Summary of Responses to Government Consultation and is addressed through the interview findings below.

2010, Bhardwaj 2001, Husain et al 2006, Humphreys & Thiara. 2003). Consequently it is only to be expected that the vast majority of research focuses on women's experiences of forced marriage. Acknowledging this, Gangoli et al (2006) expressly called for further work on the gendered experiences of men and women in forced marriage.

A comprehensive literature review for this report found that some generic guidance publications or service providers, especially those aimed at male victims of domestic violence and gay men, highlighted that men may also be victims of forced marriage. However, only one UK study specifically focussed on the forced marriage experience of young men (Samad 2010). This study highlighted the very key role of perceptions and performances of masculinity among young men as a major barrier to help seeking behaviour among men.

Samad analysed the male cases that were handled by the FCO. There were often some core similarities in the motivations and methods in these cases as for women. For instance, emotional pressure backed up with the threat of or actual violence were key strategies used by parents when attempting to put a stop to behaviour that the family found wayward or unacceptable. This was particularly in terms of exercising an independent, and in the family's view, inappropriate choice of partner.

Motivations that were more specific to the male cohort focussed on sexuality, where the young man was known or suspected to be gay. Alternatively motivations may relate to attempts to make a young man settle down and 'mend his ways' through marriage, after criminal or other undesirable behaviour such as drugs involvement.

How young men responded to the pressure was a key area of difference. Many young men said they found it hard to even admit to themselves, let alone to others, that they were the victim of force. Samad ascribes this to young men's sense of male pride and masculinity, citing an interviewee to the earlier Samad and Eade (2003) study; "What kind of man are you to get forced into a marriage?" Many young men recognise that for them it may seem easier to go through with the marriage and keep the family happy, knowing that they will either be in a position to reject the woman later or to run a double life with an intimate partner of their choosing outside the marriage. However, Samad

suggests that this may underestimate the long-term emotional and mental health consequences for young men.

Samad's study quotes some young men interviewed for the 2003 study: "If someone's not happy within their marriage now, they will clearly state so and say: "That's it". Whether they've got kids or they haven't..." and "It's an easy option to say yes."

His findings also reflected that the more obvious associations and publicity of forced marriage as a problem faced soley by women is not only a hindrance to male help-seeking, but can result in professionals failing to identify male cases – or to take them seriously. Samad finds, however, that it will be necessary for men to have the courage to confront the perceived attack on their masculinity and to take responsibility to speak out, in order to organise a better response for young men and facilitate their reporting and help-seeking behaviour.

Given the relatively small number of cases involving young men and the proportionately less damaging, though still severe, impacts for young men, it is legitimate to question what may be the benefit of examining the issue specifically from a male perspective. It is suggested by the authors of this report that Samad's finding concerning masculinity is susceptible of development and broader application to the issue of forced marriage. It is not only relevant in so far as it affects male help-seeking behaviour, but forms part of the gendered construct of forced marriage. Addressing masculinity and forced marriage with young men may also help challenge the tolerance, normalisation and complicity involved in forced marriage for young women. This in turn would hopefully build a broader, more united resistance to forced marriage among all young people.

#### 2.2. Young people's views

The majority of reported cases also involves young people aged 17-25 (FCO various). There are some suggestions that there may be increases in cases involving younger people (Lakhani, 2012). Some women's groups opposed to criminalisation of forced marriage have suggested that this may be a consequence of the more visible and punitive state response to forced marriage as perpetrators seek to isolate victims from help at a younger age. This is also reflected in some of the survey responses.

A number of studies, guidance documents and practical projects address Asian women and children together (Izzidien 2008) or address forced marriage as a potential child protection issue (FCO/DFE Guidelines for Education Professionals, Kazimirski et. al. 2009). However, there has again been relatively little research that very specifically addresses young people's perspectives.

More practical and peer exchange-based projects working with young people led by NGOs have tried to focus on young people's views specifically. In December 2013, FORWARD<sup>10</sup> (Hemmings & Khalifa 2013) released their findings from an international EU Daphne funded<sup>11</sup> project on young people's views and experiences of female genital mutilation and forced marriage. Similarly the Changing Lives project (2006) developed very specific peer support projects with young people on forced marriage, and the Jan Trust and Karma Nirvana undertake talks and sessions in schools where possible.

Throughout these projects, young people expressed that they found it extremely hard to discuss the issue of forced marriage, or challenge their parents or other adults, due to the importance of respecting one's elders in their communities. Similarly, the tendency of elders to "know best" means that even should a young person attempt to raise the issue with elders; it is often difficult for them to be taken seriously or to influence outcomes. Therefore relying on young people to report and challenge the practice is unlikely to be effective, and places a great burden on young peoples' shoulders.

"Young people involved in the research also stated they needed more support to question the practices within their communities. This was because they respected the older generation and their values and practices make it difficult for them to question the views of the 'oldest and wisest'. "...The older people have a crucial role, they are considered examples to the youngest, defenders of morality and good manners, and it is they who teach us to distinguish good from evil." (FORWAD, 2013)

DAPHNE is an EU funding programme in support of EU Member States activities against Violence against Women.

14

-

FORWARD (Foundation for Women's Health Research and Development) is an African Diaspora women led UK-registered campaign and support charity dedicated to advancing and safeguarding the sexual and reproductive health and rights of African girls and women

Another common finding across such projects was that young people were more likely to confide in their peers if they were to discuss the issue at all - but it was uncertain whether peers would know how to help. This was not explored in huge detail in this research but did emerge through some of the interviews discussed here. Educational sessions in schools by organisations like Jan Trust, Karma Nirvana, Ashiana, Tender and others have been effective in supporting young people, but are not consistently rolled out and depend on the buy-in from educational establishments. Yet it is again apparent from projects working with young people that in many cases they feel teachers are well placed to identify and support people at risk and may be the one professional to whom they would consider turning.

Several women's sector organisations (EVAW 2011, Karma Nirvana) welcomed the 2005 FCO forced marriage guidelines for education professionals, but have highlighted that they are little known or publicised, and there seems to be a reluctance on the part of Department for Education (DFE) to engage effectively with either violence against women generally or a forced marriage specific agenda. This has been persistently reflected also in Home Affairs Committee (HAC) Inquiries into forced marriage (2008, 2011):

"We are extremely worried about the fact that many schools continue to refuse to engage in preventative activity with children at risk of forced marriage and have written to the Secretary of State for Education to express this view. We are disappointed by his response."

"In the light of clear evidence that many schools are not fulfilling their statutory responsibilities with regard to forced marriage, the Department for Education must provide more active support to teachers to enable them to carry out a role which may risk upsetting cultural sensibilities but is nonetheless vital for child protection.

The relative paucity of material unearthed in this literature review that specifically addresses the gendered dimensions of forced marriage, and young peoples' perspectives on the issue, suggests considerably more research in these areas would be of value.

#### 3. Methodology

**Research questions**: The research wanted to address the following questions:

- What are the views of 16 25 year olds on forced marriage, its prevalence and relevance for them?
- What are the views of 16-25 year olds on government responses to forced marriage and to what extent, if at all; do they feel measures respond to their own views and experiences?
- Do 16-25 year olds think that forced marriage is different or the same for men and women?
- Who or what do 16-25 year olds see as most culpable in enabling the perpetuation of forced marriage, how would they tackle these causes and perpetrators and what would they like to say to them?

#### 3.1 Methodology and limitations

In the initial planning stages it had been the intention to undertake a series of workshopstyle sessions with two groups (one of young men and one of young women) to explore these questions. In practice, this presented a range of difficulties. Practical difficulties included the coincidence of the target period with school holidays and with Ramadan, making recruitment very difficult indeed. Conceptual difficulties included the risks involved in bringing a group of individuals, unknown to each other and with unknown stories, connections and views on the subject, together to discuss these very sensitive issues. Consequently, the decision was taken to individualise the engagement with young people.

A mixture of quantitative and qualitative methods was used (Chase, 2011; Teddie and Tashakkori, 2011). Desk research was undertaken to highlight the context and evolution of forced marriage policy, to explore academic commentary of the issues and to identify what knowledge there was concerning the gendered differentials of forced marriage for young people.

An online survey ran for a 3 month period (July-October)<sup>12</sup>. The survey was aimed at young people aged 16-25 with experience of the issue. In the survey, however, it was made clear that others who wished to respond and did not fall within the criteria were still welcome to share their views but were asked to declare that they were outside the target group. A total of 101 took part in the survey<sup>13</sup>.

The reasons for accepting survey respondents from outside the core criteria were principally so as to have a larger pool of views, and to have a pool against which to compare the specific views of the target group. In addition, forced marriage has been very much in the public profile recently, with the criminalisation consultations. Many people work on the issue, live in an area where it is happening or have friends, acquaintances and partners who may have been directly or indirectly affected. Some may have very direct personal experience of the issue from a range of perspectives but be over 25. It therefore seemed appropriate to enable a wider pool to engage with the survey, if they wished.

In addition to the survey, a series of 12 one-to-one, semi-structured interviews<sup>14</sup> were conducted, though in fact only 11 of these were analysed for this report as one interviewee was not sufficiently close to the issue to be able to address many of the questions. For the most part, interviews took place face-to-face in a location of the interviewee's choosing (their home, their workplace, a support organisation's office). In four cases, interviews were undertaken over the phone at the preference of the individual. Interviews were each around one hour's duration and were mostly recorded and transcribed, with participants' consent.<sup>15</sup> In a few cases, notes were taken simultaneously and immediately written up. The interviews were then thematically analysed, highlighting key issues (Ritchie et. al. 2003). As a token of appreciation for participants' time, all participants received a voucher worth £10.00.

See Appendix I for survey questions

Total of 101 participants took part in the survey but not all completed it

See Appendix II for copy of Interview prompts

See Appendices III and IV for copies of Information for Participants and consent protocols

#### 3.2 Ethical considerations

This area of research raises potentially serious ethical considerations. The sample involved young people from 16-25 affected by forced marriage. This could raise issues of informed consent and of child protection. Prior to engaging with interviewees, they were sent information about the research and a consent form, and were able to speak to the researcher before agreeing to do an interview if there were concerns. Participants were recruited on the basis that they had knowledge of forced marriage in their peer group or extended family, and not on the basis that they themselves had experienced it or were at risk. However, it was not always possible for them or the researcher to know for certain the level of risk. It was suggested to participants that they should only take part if they felt safe to do so and that therefore, if under 18, they may wish to inform their parents and/or seek their consent. If they felt their parents may not like them to discuss this matter then they should mention this to the researcher, in case it raised issues of safety for the young person. It was also made clear to participants that they could withdraw at any time if they so wished.

Participants also received information on Eaves' policies concerning data storage (cleaned, anonymised, in locked cabinets with restricted access) and confidentiality, with the caveat that disclosures would be required if there was a risk to the safety of participants or third parties. The researcher has had child protection training, has an enhanced Criminal Records Bureau check and is experienced in working on forced marriage cases. As such, when undertaking interviews, the researcher had a range of information about agencies that can help for those at risk and participants agreed for information to be shared with such partners in case of risk. At the start of the interview a recap of this information was undertaken and their consent renewed using clear and simple language.

#### 3.3 Recruitment

One of the challenges faced in the research was reaching the young people themselves for interviews. Information about the research was distributed inviting interviewees and providing contact details. The information was clear that for one-to-one interviews, key criteria included being within the age bracket (16-25) and having been close enough to the issue to have some insight to bring. This did not necessarily mean being a survivor themselves of a forced marriage but would mean having had some exposure through

contact with family, friends and community. Material was distributed in emails, social media such as Facebook and Twitter and on fliers to a wide range of organisations. These included schools, community facilities like youth groups and some religious organisations and public libraries, and via partners working in NGOs and public sector with issues of youth, race and violence against women. The online survey was tweeted, emailed and promoted through similar routes.

The main networks available to Eaves are dominated by women's sector organisations including some BME organisations. As a result participants in the survey were quite heavily dominated by people who worked in the sector and referrals to interviews and surveys were mainly accessed through support projects. This may have given a sample which was more than averagely engaged and knowledgeable about the issue, and which had a particular focus on women's experiences.

It was also the intention that the samples should cover young people from a diverse range of backgrounds, in recognition of the fact that forced marriage is not isolated to one specific community. Within the interviewee sample South Asian cases remained prevalent despite attempts to draw a wider pool however this is consonant with reported cases. Notwithstanding, the sample did manage to interview one young woman of Somali origin and one young woman of Middle Eastern origin.

A limitation of an online survey is that there is no evidence as to who is completing it and so it is very difficult to assess the profile of the sample. Even where personal data is provided it is generic, not specific.

Finally, of course, this is a relatively small interviewee sample (11 interviews) and quite wide ranging. The survey sample of 101 partial or complete responses however, combined with the 11 detailed interviews, provides a reasonable insight and identifies some trends and patterns - many of which would benefit from further research and some of which could have practical applications.

#### 3.4 Interview and survey sample profile

#### 3.4.1 Interviewee Sample profile

Among the interviewee sample profile were five men and six women <sup>16</sup> and ages were evenly spread through 17-24. They were drawn from across England with participants from Sheffield, Leeds, Luton and Derby as well as from London.

Interviewees described their martial status<sup>17</sup> as single (8), single in a relationship (1) and married (2).

Interviewees described their dominant family heritage<sup>18</sup> as Muslim Pakistani (5) Muslim Bangladeshi (2) Muslim Iraqi Kurdish (1) Muslim Somali (1) Indian Sikh (1) and Indian Hindu (1)

One interviewee declared a disability.

#### 3.4.2 The Survey Sample Profile

There were 101 responses to the survey. Not all respondents completed every question, with a number of questions receiving between 60 and 90 responses.

#### Age

Seventy-four percent of the sample responding to this question (n = 65) stated that they were in the 21-25 age bracket, 19% (n = 17) were aged 18-21, 7% (n = 6) were 16-18. A further 10 individuals completed it stating that they were outside the age limit with seven of these being just outside the bracket aged between 26 and 32 years, these are not included in the table below.

Age of survey sample within target group

21-25	18-21	16-18
74%	19%	7%
(N=65)	(n=17)	(n=6)

#### Gender

Twenty-one percent of the sample (n=21) were male and 78% female (n=76) and one person preferred not to say.

Options not selected included LGBT and prefer not to say.

Options not selected included divorced and prefer not to say.

Interviewees were asked to describe dominant parental ethnicity and religion

#### Gender of survey sample

Male	Female	Other/prefer not to say
21% (n=21)	78% (n=76)	1

#### Marital Status

Ninety-one percent (n=83) were single, 7% (n=6) were married, 2% (n = 2) were widowed. A further nine in the comments space described themselves as in a relationship (8) or preferring not to "be labelled" (1).

#### Marital status of survey sample

Single	Married	Widowed
91% (n=83)	7% (n=6)	2% (n=2)

#### Reason for interest in subject area

Respondents were asked to indicate in what way they felt this issue was relevant to them or people they cared about. Of the 66 who responded to this question 26% (n= 17) said it directly affected close friends, 6% (n=5) said it would affect family members and 80% (n=53) said it would affect people in their neighbourhood.

### Reason for interest in completing survey<sup>19</sup>

Close friends	family	neighbourhood
26% (n=17)	6% (n=5)	80% (n=53)

There were several comments from respondents expressing their interest or concern in the issue of forced marriage generally or particularly as a young people's or women's issue.

"It feels like an important issue of principle." (survey respondent)

"I am a youth worker with young women who could potentially be affected by this policy." (survey respondent)

Percentages exceed 100% as respondents could have selected more than one category.

This possibly reflects the relatively high media profile at the time of the survey as it coincided with coverage of proposals to criminalise forced marriage. It may also reflect the fact that, as indicated above, the promotion of the survey through support service and women's sector channels may have attracted a very engaged respondent base.

#### 4. Findings

- 1. What are the views of 16 25 year olds on forced marriage, its prevalence and relevance for them?
- 2. What are the views of 16-25 year olds on government responses to forced marriage and to what extent, if at all; do they feel measures respond to their own views and experiences?
- 3. Do 16-25 year olds think that forced marriage is different or the same for men and women?
- 4. Who or what do 16-25 year olds see as most culpable in enabling the perpetuation of forced marriage, how would they tackle these causes and perpetrators and what would they like to say to them?

## 4.1 What are the views of 16 – 25 year olds on forced marriage, its prevalence and relevance for them?

Prompts addressing this question in the interviews asked participants to consider the below points. The interview was semi-structured and quite free-flowing, meaning that participants ranged over all of these areas in their answers rather than addressing them on a point by point by basis:

- a) People get together in a range of different ways today how useful or not are concepts like forced and arranged marriage today?
- b) How would you define a forced marriage and how may that be distinguished from an arranged marriage?
- c) To what extent, if at all, do you think there is a problem with forced marriage?

#### 4.1.1 Marriage today

All interviewees stressed that young people get together in all kinds of ways nowadays and that it is too simplistic to speak of any particular trend or pattern.

Participants mentioned the role of internet dating, being set up by friends or family or developing one's own relationships with colleagues, fellow students etc.:

"Kids hook up, kids go out with each other, arrange stuff online and chat, meet people at college, meet friends of family, get set up by mates, get set up by family – all sorts. There's no one size fits all. It's changing with the generations". (008 male)

A recurrent theme, however, was that irrespective of how they meet up, they would want their parents to meet and approve of the person they wanted to settle down with. When talking of arranged marriage, several participants described different versions of this including allowing the young person to meet the individual suggested by parents, or indeed a few people selected by parents, and then make the choice. There was however recognition that this could easily elide into a highly-pressured situation where the young person may feel less free to turn down the option(s) proposed than they had anticipated (some described this as becoming forced, others stopped short of this). One young man described the inverse by which he brought a selection of possible girls home to meet his family and would take his parents' view on which was most suitable.

Three interviewees described situations in which male acquaintances had suggested that they wanted their parents to arrange their marriage for them and they would agree or disagree on their own terms. In one case in particular, the young man described how his friend intended to go with his parents' proposed option but maintain relationships of his own choosing outside the marriage:

"A few mates said they want parents to arrange something but they want to be the final decider. One of my mates - he said he wants someone quite traditional and that for the wife but that he'll have his girlfriends." (005 male).

During the course of the interviews however it became apparent that for such scenarios there could be a range of interpretations. It was not always clear whether the interviewee(s) knew that this was genuinely the choice of the young men they were describing or whether these young men felt under pressure to go through with the marriage, and this was their way of dealing with the situation so as not to appear to be a victim.

"I mean you're not really going to say look I'm being forced into a marriage like not as a bloke, I mean it's embarrassing really, isn't it? ... I know a couple of guys and I don't know if it was forced or not, but they went along with it and they're not happy but they'd never stand up and say I was forced, you can't really as a bloke can you?" (005 male)

This chimes with Samad's (Samad and Eade 2003) findings concerning men's sense of masculinity and male pride as a barrier to men's help-seeking behaviour. However, it is not entirely clear how much this is to do with the difficulties for males of requesting and accessing help and how much to do with male attitudes to marriage and the roles and expectations of men and women in them. For instance, it is notable, that those in these interviews who were apparently more likely to go through with, or indeed actively seek, an arranged and avowedly, traditional marriage were males.

One interviewee was keen to participate as she wanted to highlight the heterogeneity of marriage practice, even within one family, and illustrate a genuine "arranged" marriage. She described how her parents had had no intention of arranging their marriages but that her elder brother had expressly requested them to arrange his. Again this took the form described, of parents finding a range of possible options and he then meeting them and choosing one. She described this as a very happy relationship that is working well for her brother and her family and for the young woman in question. She stressed that her parents worked hard to find someone compatible for her brother. They sought individuals who would be prepared to live a traditional marriage but who also had enough in common to be a partner, for instance selecting women who had a reasonable level of education and spoke English:

"They seem to be really happy but it's quite a traditional marriage – I think that's what he wanted and he thought it might be easier getting that with a girl back home – that's a bit of a stereotype but I think that's what he thought." (0011 female)

Notwithstanding the apparent success of her brother's arranged marriage she was clear that she had no intention of seeking the same service from her parents:

"I didn't want that – it freaks me out, getting married to someone I hardly know even if they let me meet him and choose like he did, but it's still weird to me. I want control of my life and that's my choice." (0011 female)

She continued by musing on why some people like arranged marriages and raised an issue that was to recur in a few of the interviews. She, and other interviewees, demonstrated quite high levels of trust in parents and felt that generally parents will try and do their best for you and may make a good decision. She, and others, mentioned that the involvement of the parents in setting up the marriage took a lot of the responsibility off the shoulders of the young person. This meant that when there were problems or difficulties there was more support for the young person. It would not just be their fault and up to them to sort it out. Relatives on both sides would try to help to solve the difficulties and keep the marriage going:

"I understand that one of the things for my brother is that if there are problems then, with the parents being involved in the choosing, then everyone works harder to help the marriage to work – I can sort of see that but that can work the wrong way too and ultimately I think it's my responsibility and my marriage." (0011 female)

"Pakistani families think it's better to marry in the family; it's a tighter network – if something is wrong they're more likely to support and forgive as the layers of bonds are there. Layers and layers of bonds to keep everyone together and supportive and on the right track." (001 female).

It is suggested that there may be fertile ground in further research into this sense of responsibility, blame and decision-making among young people affected by, or at risk of, forced marriage. In part, it may reflect traditions which place a high premium on respecting parents and elders and which in turn may not easily respect the views of young people. This may lead to young people not developing their own decision-making skills, personal responsibility or confidence in their own conviction, making it easier for them to be persuaded into a marriage they might not want.

#### 4.1.2 Prevalence

On the question of forced marriages, all participants agreed that they do still happen, though they had differing views as to the prevalence and as to the nature of "force" (discussed below at 4.1.3.). Four female participants were involved in a voluntary capacity with relevant women's organisations and so had come across high levels of cases including some of those involving physical violence as well as emotional violence. These participants felt that forced marriage was happening on quite a large scale that is still poorly understood:

"Forced marriage still happens – parents wanting complete control and thinking they know best. Often a sort of promise they have to keep. It is seen as a matter of honour....really horrible violence and beatings, being locked up, one girl was locked up starved and left a bottle of bleach – I mean they wanted her to kill herself so they didn't' have to do it but that's still murder isn't it?" (009 female)

"I feel strongly that there are many cases from my own experience and from my work here." (004 female)

Other participants, particularly young male participants felt that it may not be all that common and that it was dying out naturally with the generations:

"I think it'll stop – life's not like that back home, times have moved on." (0010 male)

Isn't it stopping a bit now? Like with generations and time and stuff .... I think it's dying out." (005 male)

This was very much a view cited mainly by young men, it may be interesting for further research to test this assumption to see if this is indeed the trend or not.

#### 4.1.3. Distinction between forced and arranged

The most intractable issue throughout all of these interviews was in defining "force." All participants recognised that forced marriage happened on some scale. All participants were fully aware of the fact that the distinction, theoretically at least, was around free

and informed consent and valued this distinction. All participants were clear that the use of physical violence and tactics like deception, imprisonment, drugging, kidnapping and beating were clearly "force". Some participants, however, felt that this was extreme and sensational and probably not that common:

"The media tells really sensational stories about kidnap and drugging and imprisonment and beatings, I don't know how much that happens." (0011 female)

"...really use force like violence and threats and beating and that's quite extreme I don't know that that happens all that much." (008 male)

They all stressed that the pressure mostly brought to bear was emotional pressure and recognised that this should or could constitute force. As in the quote above, respondents commonly used terms like "really force", "if it's really forced." Such qualifications were illustrative of the fact that, notwithstanding familiarity with the official distinction between forced and arranged, and the role of emotional pressure in force; all but one found it very difficult to separate out persuasion from overcoming someone's will:

"Arranged and forced – one involves free choice and consent, the other does not – but this is not a clear distinction either to parents or to the young person themselves." (001 female)

"Yeah that's [distinction between forced and arranged] a bit mucked up really – it isn't all that clear – like if force means violence and guns and that then yeah but parents, man they can give you a hard time.... it can be tough, like so tough that it's easier just to go through with it and then find a way to live with it or get round it later, but I don't know if you can call that force, it's just like your Mum and Dad really persuading you". (005 male)

"I think it's happening quite a lot just you wouldn't necessarily call it forced but it's like getting pushed into stuff...If it's you that can't stand up to the nagging and begging and guilt then is it fair to blame the parents for that?" (006 male)

"It's all degrees of persuasion and people have different breaking points." (007 female)

"The distinction is clear... you know if you're being forced or not, you know if you want to marry that person or not." (0011 female)

It is perhaps relevant that this last quote is from the interviewee whose parents allowed her to make her own choice, but who arranged a successful marriage for her brother at his request. This may have given her a very clear picture of the application of consent and choice.

## 4.2. Young people's level of legislative and policy awareness, views on criminalisation

This section could have covered a wide range of issues, as it asked what interviewees knew of the current legal and policy position of forced marriage. Inevitably this could have covered, inter alia, the immigration and integration focus of many forced marriage measures and discourses at government level (Gill & Anitha 2009, Chantler et. al. 2009). Indeed one respondent was particularly exercised by what he felt to be a racist and Islamophobic context to forced marriage discourses:

"Yeah I heard they want to make it a crime but I don't think they are doing that because they care about forced marriage, I think it's just another thing to have a got at Muslims and Asians for...it's all about race and immigration and terrorism and all that – they're obsessed." (008 male)

"...seriously there's racism everywhere and Islamophobia, that doesn't help – you keep yourself to yourself in that environment – stick to your own kind – you aren't welcome anywhere else – you want to stick with what you know and trust and understand." (008 male)

However, most participants took the question to reference the proposals to criminalise forced marriage and in the interests of brevity and clarity, the interview prompts were predominantly around this development, as were the online survey questions. In particular, the prompts explored what interviewees felt were the advantages and

disadvantages to proposals to criminalise. In addition, interviewees were asked whether they took part in consultations about criminalisation, whether or not they felt they could advise someone on what help was available and whatever their views on criminalisation, what they expected the implications of criminalisation might be.

Again the discussion below takes these points together, which reflects the free-flowing nature of the discussion. Levels of knowledge differed considerably among participants on the detail but all of them had heard that there was a proposal to criminalise. The four young women who volunteered for women's groups working on these issues were the most well-informed and confident to discuss these points. Even amongst them, however, only one had taken part indirectly in a consultation via her organisation, a further three had participated in discussions in their workplace but had not themselves responded to the consultation. All three of them and one other female interviewee felt that they might have liked to respond if they had known about it. This is similar to the findings of the survey which found that of the 85 who responded to the consultation responses question, although 51% (n = 44) had known about the proposal, only 5% (n = 4) had taken part in a consultation This suggests that there may be more to do in ensuring that the most affected young people hear about, and feel empowered to respond to, policy initiatives affecting them.

Similarly it was those young women most interested in the issue, whether studying it or doing voluntary work, who were most confident about being able to advise others who may be at risk. They were informed of some of the measures that can be taken to prevent a forced marriage and some of the safeguards that can be put in place to enhance prevention and rescue if a young person fears, but is not sure, that she may be at risk of a forced marriage.

All of the participants were aware that this is an area that the Foreign Office can help with, though they were not necessarily clear of the parameters and limits of that help. This may be a point for the Foreign Office to consider in terms both of promotion of their services and of managing expectations. All of them were aware that there were women's groups who could assist. None of the participants felt that there was adequate help for young men.

In the case of the young men, there was generally a very low expectation of intervention or help - and a significant expectation that it was down to the individual to "stand your ground." This again chimes with Samad's findings on masculinity. In most cases when asked about their ability to help or advise someone they could only say "just don't do it", "walk away" or felt they had no real idea and that it wasn't their place. Several participants did suggest contacting a women's group where it concerned females:

"It's a family thing, you can't interfere. Everyone's got to find their way like." (005 male)

"I'd just say don't go along with it – walk away – leave it behind, you don't want to get messed up in that, they can't make you, not really, not if you stand your ground, just walk away." (008 male)

"Not really, I mean people are different aren't they, people got to do what's right for them. I suppose I'd just say if you don't want it, don't do it - though I expect that's easy said, don't know till you're in that situation." (0010 male)

"Most of what you read about, it's with the girls and there are quite a few organisations for them." (006 male)

Concerning criminalisation, again there was some disparity in views. There was unanimity that forced marriage was wrong and consequently a good understanding of why there is an inherent logic to making it criminal. However, among the interviewees there was a great divergence, and rather a gendered one, of views as to whether or not this was the right approach. Five out of the six female interviewees - four of whom are either doing voluntary work with women's groups in the field or are studying in related areas - were very confident that criminalisation was the right step.

They felt that this may help victims to come forward, it may help victims to feel that right is on their side and to challenge their parents and even to support parents who are themselves under pressure. They also felt it would build confidence and improve practice with professionals who sometimes are uncertain or anxious about interventions in this field. They felt that in some cases it may deter the parents though there was less

certainty about this. They felt strongly that it is a crime, a form of domestic violence, an abuse and a human rights issue and it was vital to send a clear and unequivocal message to that effect:

"I totally support criminalisation of forced marriage, it's fantastic and will serve many purposes...Confidence to come forward and report – that is the key thing, criminalisation is the authority behind you and gives you the upper hand...sends a strong message that it is not acceptable...parents are often pressurised by community this can help them too to resist and professionals often lack confidence and this gives them the confidence to handle cases – the right framework to work by." (002 female)

In the online survey, respondents were offered a range of arguments in favour of criminalisation. Sixty-five percent (n=55) of respondents to this question agreed that it sends a clear and strong message, 54% (n=46) that it was an additional argument for young people to use when at risk and 71% (n=60) that it holds everyone accountable to and protected by the same laws.

One female interviewee also suggested that criminalisation may be of particular benefit to young men at risk, encouraging them to come forward more, as she felt that a more heavy-handed, authoritarian approach is something that men respond better to and would rely on:

"I think criminalisation may help as it's more masculine, gives authority." (002 female)

Only one of the female interviewees expressed some ambivalence about criminalisation:

"I think it's just too messy. Parents who are prepared to really force you will do it anyway and I don't think this will stop it – there's things already you can do to try to stop it so I'm not sure about it...I don't really know – it doesn't feel like the right way to me...

"...I think it's too messy and unclear, it's not really criminal if the parents think they are doing the best for you and you end up going along with it but regret it – I don't know...

"...You'd just want to get a divorce or get out of the marriage somehow, it doesn't mean you want to send your parents to prison or get them in trouble with the law." (0011 female)

Interviewees were pressed on what they thought the practical implications would be of criminalisation. There was much less clarity and certainty about this. There was some recognition that it may deter young people from coming forward and some that parents might do it anyway or do it in a different way. In particular interviewees highlighted the concern expressed by some women's groups that it may result in parents taking children out of school and abroad much earlier and for much longer. Notwithstanding, the young women holding positive views on criminalisation felt that the principle is still right. They stressed that these uncertainties highlight the need for closer monitoring of trends and patterns to see what the implications are in reality and better training for organisations to be able to identify risks and patterns and support people better:

"It may deter some from coming forward at first but it shouldn't if you support people properly, reassure them, message it properly – here to help you and your parents not necessarily to bang them up in prison." (002 female)

"Parents will keep trying different ways, they won't stop but you need some prosecutions to show them and deter them – prosecution is important." (004 female)

"I don't think there are any disadvantages really, I mean I read the arguments on both sides but really I don't think there is any argument against criminalisation that is of any real value compared to the merits of criminalisation... I think parents will be frightened, but I did read somewhere that it might mean they take girls abroad earlier and keep them there for longer so they can do it easier. I don't know if that's true but that is a risk – I think we should be monitoring for that

because then we'd need to do something – but that is partly about better training and support for teachers and professionals." (009 female)

Comments in the survey reflected similar ambivalence with one comment very similar to the above interviewee; "I think all the arguments above [against criminalisation] may be valid, but are not sufficient to sway the argument." But another comment in complete opposition: "Making forced marriage a crime may mean people go abroad when there is much better access to help and support here."

The reference these interviewees make to concerns that young people may be taken abroad earlier, or that the marriages will still continue was in evidence in the survey responses. Respondents were offered some of the common reasons given in opposition to criminalisation. Of the 71 who responded to this question, 72% (n= 51) thought it may deter help seeking for fear of criminalising one's parents. Fifty-six percent (n= 40) of respondents indicated that they were concerned that it may cause families to take young people abroad earlier and for longer or would otherwise still happen but with families being more discreet about it making it harder to help victims. An additional point that the survey raised, though in small numbers, was that 28% (n=20) felt that it may lull young people into a false sense of security.

The views of the young men were significantly more ambivalent. Whilst still understanding that in principle forced marriage is wrong, they were unconvinced of criminalisation as a positive response. It should be noted, however, that as indicated above, in most cases the young men did not easily envisage any kind of intervention – either making one for others or receiving one themselves if they should be victims. They could only conceive of the issue as something an individual had to sort out for himself and evasive action being predominantly around the need to "stand your ground" or "walk away."

Their ambivalence on criminalisation reflected this as in their responses they often ruminated on how fair it was to blame the parents when the individual had just "given in" to the pressure – clearly locating the blame with the potential victim. In addition the young men perhaps also identified with the more traditional and perhaps male view that

family matters are private and it would be shameful or inappropriate for them to be discussed or dealt with in the public or by outsiders:

"I don't know – like it's wrong, course it is but does it help making it criminal? And like I don't think family business should be in the courts and all over the public. Families got to sort it out for themselves, it's private isn't it?" (005 male)

"If it's force really then I think it's fair enough – that is wrong. But if it's you that can't stand up to the nagging and begging and guilt then is it fair to blame the parents for that?" (006 male)

"It doesn't sound right to me; like it doesn't make sense you're not going to want to chat all that in public or like get your parents in trouble... it's not really the way." (0010 male)

"I think that's rubbish man – it's just wrong – it's just trying to make trouble for us – and anyway it won't work – how do you prove force? Who is going to testify in court and send their parents to the lock-up, nah stupid idea." (008 male).

This interviewee (008 male) had broader concerns more generally about the state response to forced marriage, viewing it with suspicion for what he felt was its emphasis on immigration and on South Asian (specifically Muslim) communities. His interview referenced issues of racism quite heavily throughout. This was reflected also, though to a lesser extent, in the survey responses. Respondents were offered some of the reasons against criminalisation. Forty-one percent (n=29) of respondents to the criminalisation question selected the option that it would lead to increased racial stereotyping,

Pressed on the implications of criminalisation, again the young men largely found it quite difficult to comment but were doubtful of its effect. There was a widespread recognition that broadly speaking many of the parents concerned might be generally quite law abiding and keen to avoid getting in trouble with the law which speaks to a potential deterrent effect. However most of them went on to question this as they pointed out that for most of the parents, they did not necessarily think what they were doing was wrong or was forcing their child, so they would not feel it affected them:

"Might put some off, you know but like most they don't think they're doing anything wrong, they don't think they're forcing anyway so they wouldn't think it applied to them. Probably won't make a difference like, especially not when it's the whole emotional set up..." (0010 male)

One interviewee questioned whether it was necessary given pre-existing measures:

"They've been doing stuff for ages, don't know what that is but like taking cases to court and getting kids back from back home so not sure how different this is – not on really taking family business to courts and public and media and stuff." (005 male).

A small proportion of survey respondents had also pointed this out with 20% (n=14) agreeing that a range of crimes involved in a forced marriage are already criminal offences.

This range of views on criminalisation reflects the findings of the various consultations that FCO have held on this matter. The survey sought a general view, pro or anti criminalisation, and 98% of respondents were in favour of criminalisation. This demonstrates, as the interviews and the earlier consultations do, that there is near universal condemnation of the practice of forced marriage in principle, as some of the survey quotes illustrate:

"It's just wrong [to force someone to do something]." (survey respondent)

"It's a human rights violation – end of!" (survey respondent)

"Choice of whom to marry must be a right for everyone....forced marriage is akin to legalised slavery." (survey respondent)

More detailed questions offered respondents some of the common arguments for and some of the common arguments against forced marriage. Notwithstanding the strength of their views on the principle, respondents agreed in high numbers with both sets of arguments when answering the individual questions. Again this is illustrative of the very convincing practical arguments both for and against criminalisation and a lack of confidence about the practical implications.

The authors of this report share the views expressed by some of our respondents that irrespective of one's position on this question, there is a need for some very effective monitoring of the implementation of criminalisation and an ability to respond accordingly.

## 4.3. Young people's views on gendered differentials of forced marriage

No interviewee had declared that they had been through a forced marriage themselves so this question required an imaginative leap to consider how they themselves or someone of the opposite gender might feel and react. In addition, for both male and female participants, there was considerably less familiarity with the stories of male victims of forced marriage making it difficult to imagine their experience. For the male participants it also appeared that it was not a subject they ever really talked about so again making it hard for them to imagine the experience. Nevertheless, the exercise was helpful and produced some relevant points that may be worth further investigation in future research.

There was recognition, among survey respondents, that it was different for men and women. Of the 69 respondents who answered this question, 57% felt it was different but a further 30% were not sure and 13% thought it was the same. However, in the space for commenting, several of the comments did highlight more serious and life-changing harms to women:

"They are not as pressurised as girls and they are not likely to be raped or assaulted when forced to marry." (survey respondent)

"Women are forced to marry men that are much older who will proceed to sexually, physically and emotionally abuse them." (survey respondent)

"The boys get married and still have their freedom." (survey respondent)

"They tend to go ahead with the arrangements. Males also have a say often in which women they wish to marry, it's mostly forced on the woman." (survey respondent)

Ninety-four percent of survey respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that girls who refuse or runaway may have to live in hiding and that this is viewed particularly badly of women. Ninety-six percent either agreed or strongly agreed that forced marriage could likely result in rape and lack of control of sexual and reproductive rights.

During the course of the interviews, a number of the questions enabled gendered reflections to surface.

## 4.3.1. Women's responses

A number of the young women, started out by saying it was the same or perhaps even harder for men. They explained this not only in terms of the lack of obvious help available for men:

"Hard to know where to turn because most services are aimed at women though of course this may reflect the majority of cases but still..." (001 female)

but with particular reference to issues of masculinity:

"It's hard for them to ask for help as they are embarrassed... it's hard because they might not expect to be taken seriously or understood as most people associate it with women." (001 female)

Survey respondents also identified the difficulties for young men. Of the 65 who responded, 53% (n=34) agreed that it was hard for boys to ask for help and 47% (n=34) that there were less male specific services and help available:

"Men are affected though there are less cases but the problem is the male ego, like they'd be afraid they may laugh at me, not take me seriously." (002 female)

"I think it's harder for men as it's so hard to betray that machismo, hiding emotions stuff." (004 female)

"I haven't really thought about men being forced into marriage, it would be just as bad, worse in a way – being a man and being forced it would be so hard to get help – men aren't supposed to be pushed around like that – they wouldn't want to admit something like that – it'd be embarrassing." (007 female)

During the course of the interview and cross-referencing questions, the women did highlight differences in terms of the gendered harms, in terms of strategies parents would use to push a man into a marriage and in terms of how a man would deal with the aftermath of a forced marriage.

#### a) Harms

Young women repeatedly focussed on the mental health trauma of forced marriage which they felt was the same for men and for women or indeed sometimes worse for men. They discussed the annihilating effects of a complete loss of autonomy, losing your sense of self and who you are:

"You lose your own identity, lose what you are, you can never ever be the same again or find the person you were once, that is very, very hard." (002 female)

On a more gendered note, the young women recognised that forced marriage for women might involve rape, domestic violence, honour based violence, the ties of children and an end to freedoms and choices. (Quite often neither they, nor the men, used the actual word rape but euphemisms for it or described it as "like rape" when in fact in many of the circumstances it would be rape):

"Sorry if I sound too much on the women's side but I think it is different... men may be scared but there is less risk for them although there are less avenues for seeking help. ...With sex acts you may not want against your will or out of your will, women have to accept abuse as part of their lot, women lose their freedom. With men some of this is the same but there's less harm." (001 female).

"People think, and it is true, that the women in forced marriage are treated like slaves, not allowed out, everything stops for them and they are in the house and working and the men can carry on with the rest of their life and girlfriends etc. and this is true." (004 female)

"Having to live like husband and wife with some man you don't know and don't like – it's disgusting – it's like rape. It'd drive you mad – you'd kill yourself you really would. Or I would." (007 female)

"...But I do think though that for the men it's easier, well not easier but they don't have to stop everything – they can still do their studies or devote themselves to their career and I'm sure probably lots just have girlfriends outside – its not so fatal, well constricting." (0011 female)

One interviewee was keen to stress the cross-over between forced marriage and honour based violence. She highlighted that young women and men need support often long before reaching the stage of a forced marriage. The very fact of being seen with a boy could elicit violence and abuse. She, and a number of other female interviewees, specifically referenced the Banaz Mahmod<sup>20</sup> case:

"But it's not always about marriage or going overseas – there can be real problems here – especially in our community if a girl is seen with a boy even that can put her and him in real danger." (009 female)

Survey respondents were offered a list of potential harms for women associated with forced marriage and here too there was very high identification with the gravity of the implications of a forced marriage. Of the 85 who answered these questions there was strong agreement (93% (n=79)) with the identification of key harms such as assault, rape, sexual and reproductive rights and negative impacts on education, career and financial autonomy. This again contrasts oddly with the fact that 43% of survey respondents initially responded either that they thought forced marriage was the same for men and women or were uncertain of the difference.

\_

Banaz Mahmod was a 20 year old Iraqi Kurdish woman murdered by family arrangement in 2006 for having a boyfriend of her own choice (BBC, 2010)

#### b) Coping strategies

The most striking difference was that many of the young women and indeed young men felt that the men who had gone through with a forced marriage would not be affected in the same way. He would not be nearly so restricted and would be able to continue with most areas of his life — studies, employment, a social life and love life outside the marriage. However, there was recognition that this could still have lasting mental health effects for men as they are living a double life, coming home to someone they do not love and who probably does not love them and that in some cases they might still have a breakdown or lash out:

"It's still horrible to go back to a house to a person supposed to be your wife who doesn't love you and you don't love her and everyone knows." (004 female)

"It would mess with anyone's mind, it really would I suppose men might feel more able to try and get a divorce or they might try and just live with it but build an alternative life out of the marriage." (007 female)

"I mean do you just try and live with it? Make the best of it? Go along as if nothing has happened but inside you're dying? That would kill you – people can't do that – we're not made like that – it would break you...It's not different [with men] at least not mentally, the way it eats away at your mind and who you are and that but I suppose some men try and have both worlds the wife at home like a good boy but girlfriends and things outside but that's still not healthy, it would still break you in the end and it's not fair either on anyone." (009 female)

"I think men may go through with it but then they would sort of act out "go AWOL" or get in problems with drugs and alcohol." (001 female)

The survey responses to a lesser degree also highlighted that men's responses to forced marriage may involve "acting out". Forty-four percent of respondents (n=28) partially agreed and 39% (n-25) agreed that he may express his distress with violence and criminality.

#### c) Parents' strategies

The young women felt that broadly speaking the strategies parents use to persuade men were similar to those used with women being mainly around guilt and emotional blackmail. However, they did highlight some subtle differences which again play directly to concepts of masculinity:

"It's the same but what is used might be sometimes a bit different – to get men is like "you are the man of the family, you have to" – that sense of responsibility and grown-up adulthood so he feels older and responsible, whereas with women it's "you don't know how it will make us feel." (002 female)

This interviewee added some personal anecdotes where she highlighted that her male cousins were always given more freedom but were always eager to be treated as an adult and given respect as this was bringing them closer to their status as a man and a man has respect and power. She felt, therefore, that parents will appeal to young men by playing on this eagerness for the power and respect of manhood by pressing the adult and responsible nature of the marriage with the young man:

"I think it's probably a bit the same really maybe more about the honour and shame of him and of the father – the duty as a man – that sort of thing. Playing on that macho thing whereas with us girls I think it's more about family and selfishness and letting people down." (009 female)

"I think it's the same mainly. They might be on a bit more about the honour and responsibility with the boys especially like the eldest brother to kind of handover the head of the family – sort of you know about duty and setting an example – maybe." (0011 female).

# 4.3.2. Men's responses

The men seemed to find it quite hard to imagine either a male or a female experience of forced marriage and clearly were not familiar with discussing it. Their responses were additionally hampered by finding it quite difficult to conceive of a man being forced or at least of a man admitting he had been forced:

"I know a couple of guys and I don't know if it was force or not, but they went along with it and they're not happy but they'd never stand up and say "I was forced", you can't really as a bloke can you? (005 male)

"But like for lads it's a bit weird isn't it? – Being forced into a marriage I mean – that's quite hard to own up to, it's more a girls thing really." (006 male)

The survey offered respondents a list of possible factors that could be particularly relevant for boys/men forced into marriage. Among the options were three particular options that were not picked up by either the male or female interviewees but to which respondents did agree.

Fifty-eight percent (n=37) agreed that a young man may already have a partner of his own choice. Fifty percent either agreed or partially agreed that it may be a useful way to ensure there is someone to look after his parents. As many as 85% either partially agreed or agreed that he may be expected to be an enforcer for his siblings so it is difficult for him to refuse.

This last point would suggest that this is an important area in which to undertake more research. To some extent it is reflected, by inference at least, in some of the interviews such as where interviewees suggest that strategies to force a man into marriage may be linked to appealing to his sense of duty, honour and setting an example and specifically in interview 009 (female) where she addresses the role of gender discrimination in forced marriage (discussed below in section 5).

Male interviewees, like the female interviewees shared an initial response that it was the same for men and women particularly in terms of the mental health implications and the denial of autonomy. Once again though as the interview progressed some differences emerged around harms and coping strategies.

#### a) Harms

The men were able to envisage the potential mental health harms of forced marriage for men as well as for women:

"But it must mess with your mind a bit – like you're trying to be all responsible happy families with wifey but really you hate her guts and you're just trying to get by and have a good time and your own life." (005 male)

"You have to try and live with this person you don't like and doesn't like you and everyone knows that and you've just got to pretend – that's mental." (006 male)

Like the women, some of the male respondents could envisage that harms for women may be more serious with participants citing domestic violence, constraints on women's lives, rape and being trapped by childbirth as risks:

"Well like for the women, I don't know but its' a bad start isn't it – I could imagine it might be a pretty rotten marriage like, maybe violent and that and like if you're married and you hate the guy well, I mean sex and stuff, that - well suppose it's a bit like rape isn't it? And you end up with kids n'all, then you're trapped." (005 male)

This interviewee showed a good understanding of the risks women run in trying to avoid or flee a forced marriage and felt the urgency that women should not go through with it:

"Once you're in it you're stuck really and running away like it's quite a big thing with the girls, that can be quite risky, like if your family has forced, actually really forced, you then they're going to try and make it stick – they might take it bad if a girl tries to walk away from it. It's tough, really you shouldn't go through with it as a girl – too much to lose." (005 male)

#### b) Coping strategies

Men's responses showed some differences in coping strategies, with a common thread being the tendency for men to just live with it and try and build a life outside the marriage or trying to get a divorce being a realistic option. Their answers did recognise that this is not the same for women who may be much more trapped and constrained by the marriage:

"And you've done it now and the family all happy and that so it's easier to try and stick with it... Just get on with it and have their life, they wouldn't' let it stop them even if it's crap like. And like divorce is getting lots easier now." (005 male)

"I suppose the difference is that men can still have their own life... you just have to put up with it. But like everyone just gets divorced now." (006 male)

"I suppose the girls get really caught up in it – babies and that and it's kind of the end for them, I mean that's it - you're married you're stuck with him, you're at home, kids, relatives, that's your life." (008 male)

One interviewee recognised the potential for male participants to lash out in some way:

"It would make you angry, like really want to hit out at someone – I don't mean actual violence - but I mean you'd feel all trapped and caged up and wanting to lash out. You got to live your own life on your own terms." (008 male)

#### c) Parents' strategies

The male interviewees had less comment to make in answer to questions around parents' strategies to persuade males into marriage. Generally their responses suggested the method was the same being emotional blackmail but they implied that women were much more likely to "give in" to that than men:

"I reckon it's the same sort of stuff really – all that emotional guilt-tripping stuff but girls give in to that more easily." (005 male)

"Well I think it's guilt tripping you and thing is as well that often they are under similar pressure themselves from back home and sometimes it's heavy right because it's like a promise and that's serious." (008 male)

One interviewee suggested parents may use a different approach with men by trying to almost cut a deal with them:

"Some of the parents though can be quite clever with the lads – they just want the marriage to happen to keep everyone happy and they might say, "look it doesn't have to stop you doing anything you want just make it look ok", but really they mean for you to settle down." (005 male)

It is notable that the female interviewees seemed to be bringing a much deeper gender analysis and insight to these questions than the men even if they were not able to articulate it in a gender discrimination framework. This may be natural in view of the disproportionate harms that women face in forced marriage as acknowledged by both male and female participants. However, this would also suggest that there is more work to do with men on gender roles and expectations including their own sense of masculinity and how this is used to manipulate them.

# 4.4. Young people's views on why the practice continues and how to address it

The most overwhelming response of the interviews to the questions relating to why it continues to happen and who is responsible was that the fault lay with the parents and with the extended family and community both here and "back home." However, across both the interviews and the survey, respondents cited a very wide range of causes and motivations. This reflects Foreign Office's own guidance and is perhaps a reminder that measures to address forced marriage need to tally with the multiplicity of causes and motivations.

In the survey, respondents were offered a list of causes that could be relevant to the perpetuation of forced marriage from the perspective of the perpetrators. Seventy-eight percent (n=53) of those responding felt that the view that tradition, religion, custom or honour require it was very relevant and 69% (n=47) felt that pressure from relatives in the parents' home country was very relevant. A further 45% (n=19) agreed that it was quite relevant that parents had not realised times had moved on. The interviews reflected similar concerns.

A number of interviewees highlighted that part of the problem was the fact that their parents didn't have much of a social life outside the immediate family and Mosque and did not mix so they never had their ideas challenged. In two cases, interviewees felt this was in part due to the racism in the host community or fear and ignorance of the West but in most cases it was a sense that parents were stuck in the 50's and 60's and did not break out:

"I think they are frightened of the West and of losing control and they might not mean any harm, I mean they might think they are doing the right thing to look after their daughters but it's wrong – I think it's ignorance and it's fear and I think they aren't challenged enough." (007 female)

"I mean my parents live in the same street they came to in the 50s or whatever with all the same people – they know them – some of them are relatives, know the same people back home and go back every year so everyone has the same idea." (006 male)

"Thing is mine came over here, I don't know 50s 60s? And they judge everything by how it was then." (008 male)

"They all know each other, they all have these deals and ties and things so they're all tied into it one way or another, and everyone chatting your business so you can't do nothing." (0010 male)

"Problem is parents have no social life – religion, shopping, holiday with family, neighbours – so they never break out of it or see anything – if they had other things to do, a social life, courses, they might understand that this is what their kids want too and it's not a bad thing". (002 female)

Issues of integration and racism were also touched on in the online survey. Thirty-six percent (n=24) of respondents out of 67 selected partial agreement to racism which stops settled migrant communities mixing, and 34% (n=23) selected partial agreement to cultural relativism. Forty-seven percent (n=31) partially agreed to migrant communities who do not want to mix. A further 42% (n=28) strongly agreed that there was not enough

support to specialist agencies and the same proportion agreed that religious groups and community leaders were responsible. Forty percent (n=27) agreed that public services did not deal with the problem properly.

In the online survey, 68% (n = 46) of respondents agreed that the control of young people's, and particularly young women's, sexuality was very relevant. This was spelt out to respondents as an option. It is questionable if, otherwise, they would have named this of their own volition.

A smaller proportion of respondents, 45% (n=30), felt that the need to keep money or land in the family was very relevant and 48 % that it was quite relevant. Fifty-six percent (n=37) felt that the need to bring someone to the UK was quite relevant and 35% thought it very relevant. The interviews did not feature these issues as causes to any great degree. Only two interviewees expressly mentioned the role of forced marriage as a vehicle to bring someone to the UK and did so in the context of honouring promises or escaping poverty and lack of opportunity.

Fifty-eight percent (n=37) felt it quite relevant that there may be suspicions that a young person is gay. Respondents were fairly evenly spread over other motivations that were offered such as the young person "getting into trouble" (quite relevant 34% (n=22)) or the young person being disabled (quite relevant 29% n=19)). There were fewer comments offered in this question though one respondent stressed both learning disability and sexuality:

"I have had loads of experience of forced marriage on youngsters that do not have mental capacity due to a learning disability and on young men who are identifying themselves as gay." (survey respondent)

In the interviews, young men were more likely to add that there is a responsibility on the young people to stand up to the parents:

"But I think it's up to us as well – we've got to stand up to them and tell them it's not on, it's not going to work, there's no point trying, we're not going along with it, no matter what they say they can't force us not really." (006 male)

Young women were more likely to highlight the fact that for the parents this may be a benign act; that the parents might conceive of it as a duty and doing something good and right for their children. They were also more likely to cite the role of international marriage as a means of helping family to escape poverty or have new opportunities. It is possible that this higher degree of empathy and identification with the parents' perspective is part of what may render young women additionally vulnerable to the emotional pressure parents apply:

"They just came to the UK for a better life.... It's what they knew when they were young, elders did something for them and it was a weight off their shoulders and they must do the same." (002 female)

"Aunties saying how hard life is and when you go back send us money - For parents its agreements like this and you have to honour them to your family for better life." (002 female)

"You know life back home, it's very hard and so it's true that it can be a route out of poverty, provide opportunities for development or for a better life. And sometimes that's a promise or an agreement you have to honour... Pakistani families think it's better to marry in the family..." (001 female)

In terms of recommendations, participants both to the interviews (male and female) and to the survey highlighted two main areas that they thought were important one being the older generation/community and the other being the young people themselves. They called for more publicity and awareness-raising generally. In particular interviewees urged that government should spread a message to the parents and elders and target people and outlets that their parents listen to and respect. Participants commonly cited elders, the Mosque, Satellite TV channels, soaps and radio. Survey respondents were more likely to make general reference to the community rather than to parents specifically or to the overseas extended family even though they had cited these as the cause of the problem elsewhere:

"I think they could do more things like television soap story lines or radio features." (007 female)

"Publicity is good – saying it's not ok and maybe in Mosques and round the community – where our parents hang out, the people they listen to." (006 male)

"They really need to speak to people like our parents – the community, the Mosque the people our parents listen to and respect...not lecturing them but really talking and listening." (008 male)

An important issue arose through the survey responses on recommendations. Several comments mirrored these interviews in calling for closer working with the community but a number of comments warned against placing too much trust and responsibility with community institutions. In particular some comments called for a ban on Shari'a courts and warned against elders and religious leaders. This is a dilemma for policy makers trying to address the problem. There is clearly a need, as the young people say, to access the people their parents listen to and respect; but there are real difficulties in discerning who among such figures can genuinely be relied on to challenge conservative and traditional values.

Recent undercover documentaries have highlighted advice among supposedly reputable "community leaders" and in Mosques and Shari'a Courts that discourages women from going to the police when facing domestic violence and agree to perform early forced marriage on a 14 year old (Panorama, 2013; ITV Exposure, 2013). Expert commentators on women's human rights (Patel 2008, 2012, Sahgal 2004) have repeatedly expressed serious concerns at the misguided tendency of the State to look to some of the most undemocratic, self-appointed and fundamentalist elements of "community" to prevent forced marriage.

Secondly interviewees and survey respondents routinely highlighted training of professionals generally but in particular schools and colleges as a key place for young people to learn more about their rights and about what help is available and felt that with proper training and support teachers could identify and support young people at risk:

"I think schools and colleges can do much more." (007 female)

"I really think schools are a good place to talk about all this... you might spot people in trouble or they would know they could come to you for help." (0011 female)

This chimes with many calls by women's sector organisations and has been highlighted as a gap in the Home Affairs Committee inquiries into forced marriage.

Some participants struggled to come up with any recommendations, young men in particular felt that there was not much that could be done other than be braver about standing up to parents and wait for the practice to naturally peter out which they were sure was already happening:

"I just think you let it be, it's dying out with time." (005 male)

"I am not sure what you do, it's with our parents and they've just got to stop it and it will die out. We just have to wait it out and we have to be a bit smarter about standing up to them." (006 male)

"Not sure there's much you can do...I think it'll stop. Life's not like that back home anymore." (0010 male)

A number of participants highlighted the need for effective monitoring of the implementation of criminalisation proposals in order to ensure that trends, patterns and unintended consequences could be quickly identified and remedied.

Other recommendations from interviewees included an acknowledgement that criminalisation may be the right step, helping parents to develop social lives that take them out of their normal context and more funding to the specialist women's sector working on these issues. There were also recommendations relating to the development of peer support networks, less of a focus on legislation, immigration and enforcement and more on simply helping victims and preventing the forced marriage. Interviewees expressed support for peer to peer programmes in recognition of the fact that it is easier

to talk to your peer group, this reflects Hemmings and Khalifa's recent (2013) study. Survey respondents also highlighted the need for public sector services to be better trained and more robust and courageous in tackling the issue and for better resourcing for specialist BME women's NGOs addressing the issue. Recommendations from the survey respondents reflected similar issues:

"Less political correctness bullshit and more practical measures. Less cultural sensitivity and more strict regulations." (Survey respondent)

"Ban Shari'a courts." (Survey respondent)

"Needs to be education in schools." (Survey respondent)

"Educate young people, fund women's support agencies." (Survey respondent)

"Education is vital. Making it a crime doesn't address the underlying reasons why forced marriage happens, it is just a deterrent which some people will ignore." (survey respondent)

Only one interviewee (009 female) explicitly cited gender equality as an area for action, (this point is discussed below in section 5). Similarly, very few of the survey respondent recommendations tackled issues of gender inequality and discrimination. One comment did expand on this though:

"I think there needs to be a general shift in the public perception – shift from a rhetoric of women as victims to taking those women seriously who are affected by forced marriage and listening to them. It also doesn't help that the higher echelons of the police, social services, many schools, the government and courts is dominated by males." (survey respondent)

The recommendations from the interviewees were perhaps most closely matched to the perceived causes of the problem, whereas the recommendations in the survey were much more scattergun. There is some merit in closely examining how good a match the proposed measures to address forced marriage are to the actual causes of the problem.

#### 4.5. Survey participant reflections

The survey asked respondents whether they had thought about anything differently as a result of this survey and to elaborate on this. Of the 67 who responded 37% (n=25) said yes and 63% (n=42) said no. There were a further 19 who then went on to highlight examples of how they had thought differently about the issues. The majority of these focussed on the fact that they had not previously given much thought to the situation for boys and young men or of the gender differential.

Some respondents said that it had caused them to think more deeply about the reasons for forced marriage. This made them realise it was not susceptible of a simple solution but that there could be a range of unintended and complex consequences from interventions such as criminalisation and a more holistic range of responses was needed:

"I realized of more way in how forced marriage can affect boys and girls [sic]." (survey respondent)

"The issues that boys have also." (survey respondent)

"Never thought about the male side of forced marriage." (survey respondent)

"I have had to think about the reasons for forced marriage and how it isn't as simple as just banning it." (survey respondent)

"Learned more about the reasons behind forced marriage." (survey respondent)

"The potential problems that criminalising forced marriage may create for the victims. This has made me think that criminalising forced marriage can't be the complete solution and has to be implemented carefully to ensure it doesn't do more harm than good." (survey respondent)

One interviewee also at the end of her interview when asked if she had anything to add, said she had enjoyed the process and it had given her more to think about. In designing the survey questions, the researcher did not expect to elicit much response to this

reflective question. In fact respondents clearly had found the exercise to be informative, engaging and thought-provoking. Their responses suggest that even though this may have been a relatively well informed sample there are still gaps in knowledge and awareness which might indicate further benefits to continued research of this type.

#### 5. Gender implications

It is argued that the findings of this research highlight a range of gender specific implications to forced marriage. It is notable that both survey respondents and interviewees in their initial responses were not clear that forced marriage was different for men and women. Survey respondents in particular found their participation had challenged them to think through gendered differentials. Some female interviewees initially felt it was harder for males. However, both sets of participants in fact were able to highlight some very specific differences but clearly, with only one exception, did not conceive of this or articulate it in a conceptual framework of gender discrimination.

Similarly, only two of the female interviewees referenced feminism. One of them identified that working in a voluntary capacity on these issues had developed a slightly more feminist analysis but both appeared to either explicitly or implicitly apologise for it:

"I wasn't a feminist, I saw males as superior really but I have increasingly become feminist..."But sorry if I sound too much on the women's side but I think it's different." [harms for men and for women] (001 female)

"...And this is going to sound a bit feminist..." (009 female)

To the extent that forced marriage is recognised as a form of gender based violence from which women suffer disproportionately and is precisely about gender roles, there is perhaps capacity to develop a more gendered analysis in framing the issue and responses to it.

A key area of difference was that there is less help available for men and that services and media coverage are aimed at women's experiences. To the extent that women felt it may be harder for men, their views focussed on how difficult it may be for men to ask for help. They stressed the challenge to men's masculinity, that they may feel embarrassed to admit to being victims and to seek help and afraid they would not be taken seriously. As mentioned elsewhere, this echoes Samad's findings (Samad and Eade 2003). At the more extreme end, indeed, as one interviewee said, "Men aren't supposed to be pushed around like that." (007 female) Men's own responses also highlighted that they were less likely to ask for help. This was due in part to their sense of embarrassment at being

forced as a man. However, a more general view expressed, almost uniquely by the males, was that there was an obligation on young people to withstand the pressure and "just say no." Similarly they appeared to have little expectation or wish for state intervention stressing that it's "family business" and not a matter for the courts.

It rapidly became clear that there was an understanding that a shared harm related to the mental health implications of forced marriage, the loss of the sense of self and autonomy. As the interviews and surveys progressed however, participants began to differentiate between the extent of the harms suffered by men and by women and to see women at greater risk. Harms for women included rape, abuses of sexual and reproductive rights, potential lasting domestic violence and a retraction or complete cessation of social life, personal autonomy and of education and employment opportunities.

Men and boys, it was recognised by all participants, would not face the same loss of freedoms and opportunities and may be able to build an alternative life outside the marriage, notwithstanding the mental strain this may entail. As Samad also found for men it may be "It's an easier option just to say yes."

The high level of empathy for, and outrage about, male suffering; notwithstanding the recognition that in fact the harms were greater for women, may suggest a much more normalised tolerance for female suffering. Indeed this was captured by one of the young women's interviews in which she said, "Women have to accept abuse as part of their lot." (001 female)

Some other areas of difference were suggested if less marked. These included that men may be particularly at risk of being forced into marriage if their sexuality is in question or if they are getting into trouble with drugs or other criminality. The converse of this was also true; that it was felt that where men had been forced into marriage, there may be a tendency for them to respond to this by "acting out", perhaps developing criminal or violent behavioural problems or issues with drugs/alcohol. There was a consensus that the female equivalent of this is more likely to be internally focussed in the form of self-harming.

A particularly interesting area of difference was around the differing, and probably largely unconsciously, gendered parental strategies in persuading men and women into a marriage. Tactics with women were identified as playing on the socially approved and learned roles of women to be peacemakers and bind the family together, to appease, to seek approval, to be selfless and to self-sacrifice. Tactics with males played to males' desire for the power, respect and status that comes with male adulthood.

This finding leads to the other side of the coin with males and forced marriage whereby similar trappings of masculinity are integral to men and boys' role in perpetrating or facilitating forced marriage. Eighty-five percent of survey respondents felt that men may find it hard to resist their own forced marriage given men's role as a potential "enforcer with his siblings." There was, however, remarkably low identification of young males or indeed gender discrimination as part of the problem throughout either survey or interviews.

The main exception being 009 female citing gender inequality as a key underlying cause of forced marriage. In her case, this may have arisen from her personal experience in that she described how her father had died of cancer when she was about 14 and that it was only then that she realised how controlling he had been. She went on to describe how she, her little sister and her mother had fights with her older brother because he had tried to step into the father's shoes thinking he should look after them, "be the big man" but "I wouldn't let him bully us and he has sort of given up on us."

In addressing the question of why it still happens, this interviewee said:

"I think it's also it's a bigger problem – it, and this is going to sound a bit feminist and maybe I am more now since I worked here, but I do think it's about how we think about women and roles and status in society, especially in traditional communities like mine. Like men seeing women as their property or something they are entitled to and control and do as they like with - like they don't see the woman in herself they only see her in relation to themselves." (009 female)

She continued this theme when addressing the follow up question concerning recommendations for action:

"The only other thing is boys – educating the boys too – not just that they can be at risk too but that they have to support their sisters to stand up to this. Like quite often the brothers are involved – I mean the cases we deal with the brother is the last person the girl would turn to – it's the brother they're most afraid of....it's them that do the beatings and that spy on the girls and carry tales – they need to stop that. They need to know it's not ok – they've got no right." (009 female)

This is both an important reminder and a dilemma for policy makers and practitioners who, on the one hand wish to support and empower young men as potential victims, but also cannot shy away from this dual role for men as both victims and perpetrators.

#### 6. Conclusions and recommendations

#### 6.1. Gender

This research has found that there are gender differentials not only in the harms experienced but in the strategies parents use to coerce children into marriage and in the victims' own help-seeking, evasive and coping strategies.

It is recommended that this gender analysis is brought to bear when framing possible prevention and protection interventions and in publicity and materials targetting young men and young women.

#### Highlight to young men:

- That men may be victims too and through no fault of their own;
- That help is available for them and it is safe to seek help;
- That it is not all down to the individual to resist emotional pressure and that emotional pressure is force;
- That going through with a forced marriage may seem like an easier option but can entail mental health consequences for young men, is unfair on wives and girlfriends and is likely to still result in unhappiness and strife further down the line;
- That forced marriage is wrong and they should try to support efforts to resist it when their friends and families are at risk;
- That attempts to persuade them into marriages themselves or into facilitating a relative's marriage by appealing to their sense of manhood, honour and responsibility is manipulation and misguided.

#### Highlight to young women:

- That men may be victims too but may find it hard to talk about it or ask for help so if they are worried about a male friend or relative, maybe they should take the initiative in raising the issue and the help available if it is safe to do so;
- That while parents' motives may on one level be benign, nonetheless it is appropriate to refuse to go through with it;

- That attempts to persuade them into marriages by accusing them of being selfish and uncaring is merely a strategy and not a character assessment and one they must resist;
- That the consequences are extreme for young women and can include rape, forced childbirth and a constriction or cessation of personal and professional life.

#### 6.2. Forced/arranged distinction

This research has found that the consent-based distinction between forced and arranged marriage is well known as is the role of emotional pressure in achieving a forced marriage. However, the distinction is not well understood in practice particularly where it is a question of emotional pressure.

- Maintain the analysis of the distinction between forced and arranged as being based in consent;
- Develop more materials for diverse audiences (parents, young people, practitioners) that highlight the role of emotional pressure as force;
- Highlight that being susceptible to emotional pressures is natural and is not a weakness or fault of the victim but is an abuse of power by the perpetrator.

This research also found that young people are getting together in relationships and marriages in a wide variety of ways but that they still face unhelpful stereotypes and assumptions.

 Consider developing materials and publicity that can attest to the heterogeneity of marriage/relationships and can thereby also highlight the subtleties of pressure and consent.

Several participants in this research, particularly the young men, appeared to suggest that forced marriage may be dying out naturally over time.

Undertake more detailed research to test this assumption. If erroneous, there is a
danger that this could lead to a dangerous complacency, if true this may change
the emphasis of interventions and would be very welcome.

#### 6.3. Inter-generational dialogue

This research suggested that young people from certain communities may find it difficult to take full responsibility for their marriage due to cultural and traditional attitudes in their families. Being desirous of parental approval and harmonious relations around a choice of marriage partner is of course both laudable and near universal. However, the fact that for many young people a key factor in arranged marriage, and where this elides into forced marriage, is in feeling that this lessens or removes the burden of responsibility for the marriage.

 Explore with young people at risk of forced marriage, their attitudes towards responsibility and decision making in marriage and how this may affect their vulnerability to a forced marriage.

This research agreed with the findings of other studies (Hemmings & Khalifa 2013) that it is very difficult for young people to confront and challenge the views of their elders or for their elders to take them seriously due to the culture of respect for elders.

- Develop opportunities to have this dialogue with the elders without placing the whole burden for challenging the practice on the young people;
- Develop more sustained, innovative and sophisticated means of targetting and engaging with those most affected by the issues both young and old;
- Engage them as spokespeople and emissaries for the issue;
- Create safe spaces for intergenerational dialogue building in mechanisms to counter the more conservative trend that gives little voice and little influence to young people;
- Consider the development of storylines and features in mainstream and satellite
   TV and radio broadcasts;

 With the advice and input of specialist organisations, identify if there are reliable spokespeople from within the ranks of elders and religious leaders who may be able to reach parents but avoid over-reliance or complacency in so doing.

# 6.4. Training and accountability of practitioners and professionals in particular education and funding and joint working with specialist organisations

As with most research studies there is always a call for improved training, implementation and accountability of best standards. This report is no exception. Respondents frequently referenced the various forced marriage guidelines aimed at different sectors (social services, education, health, police) and the Banaz Mahmod training in the context of honour based violence. There was widespread praise for these initiatives but a lack of awareness that the guidance was on a statutory footing. There was also concern that good as these initiatives are, they are not consistently applied or known about, and do not always figure in actual practice on a day to day basis.

# • DFE engagement

The most commonly repeated refrain was for education in particular to take a much more proactive role on forced marriage. The capacity for teachers to be able to inform young people of their rights, identify people at risk and provide appropriate support and advice was repeatedly stressed. However, respondents reflected wider concerns of the women's sector and of the Home Affairs Committee as to the lack of adequate engagement from DFE. It was felt a strong message from the top could help to ensure good practice and prevention all the way through the tiers of education.

• Respect and funding for the specialist women's and BME sector organisations. Participants recognised the vital role of specialist women's organisations working on this issue. A recommendation of this report is for continued and improved funding to these organisations which are at risk especially in the current financial climate.<sup>21</sup> In addition, a further recommendation is for enhanced working relationships between statutory sector and these organisations such that their expertise is recognised, valued and acted on and this would be reflected in commissioning frameworks and practice.

62

A Council of Ethnic Minority Voluntary Organizations (CEMVO) study in 2010 found that 45% of 173 BME organisations surveyed had suffered cuts (Voice4Change, 2013)

#### 6.5. Criminalisation – research and monitoring

This research found unanimous condemnation of forced marriage as a human rights abuse and a form of domestic violence and a majority of views in support of criminalisation in principle However, there were quite finely balanced arguments on both sides as to whether criminalisation was the most appropriate measure in terms of helping victims.

- Undertake independent research to monitor outcomes of criminalisation for all parties:
- Establish a working group including specialist women's organisations to consider outcomes and to advise on reviewing or amending policy and practice accordingly.

#### 6.6. Match the cause to the solution

This research concurs with FCO guidance that there is a huge multiplicity and complexity of factors that motivate and perpetuate forced marriage. To date, as indicated by a number of academics and some of the respondents to this report, the responses to forced marriage have played heavily on immigration and enforcement. Policy makers may be advised to review this as such an approach can hinder the buy-in of the target community, indeed actively alienate them; but moreover is of limited use given the complexity of other relevant factors.

Measures aimed at reducing forced marriage must:

- Have regard to the interplay between these factors;
- Be proportionate according to the most significant drivers;
- Be holistic.

As outlined elsewhere, this report not only finds that there is this multiplicity of factors but also that marriages and relationships in the affected communities are heterogenous with constantly evolving and changing patterns and trends.

 Undertake regular research to identify changing patterns and to provide a more nuanced and honest weighting of the drivers in order to help shape more targeted, effective and relevant solutions.

Common threads throughout these recommendations are working through a gender discrimination and equalities framework, further investigation with continued independent research and the need for excellent data, monitoring and accountability.

This research highlights young people's attitudes to forced marriage and their particular challenges in attending to confront and withstand the practice. It has identified both gender differences and similarities. The final words go to our participants, male or female pointing up the damaging effects:

"You have to try and live with this person you don't like and doesn't like you and everyone knows that and you're just to got pretend – that's mental. " (006 male)

"I mean do you just try and live with it? Make the best of it? Go along as if nothing has happened but inside you're dying? That would kill you – people can't do that – we're not made like that – it would break you..." (009 female)

Appendices and Bibliography

Appendix I: Online public survey

Forced marriage: young people's views.

Issue

On 8 June 2012 David Cameron announced that "forcing someone to marry" was

to become a crime in England and Wales after several consultations and a wide

range of mixed views.

Introduction

Thank you for completing this survey, it should only take about 15 minutes.

anonymous but please confirm your age and gender and that this project potentially has

direct relevance to you. This project is intended for 16-25 year olds for whom such policy

change may impact on themselves or their friends and family.

(If you are keen to share your views and are not the intended participants, please do so

but please indicate this).

Further engagement: we are also running two discussion groups and/or one-to-one

interviews (for young men and for young women) over the summer to culminate in a visit

to policy and decision makers to present young people's opinions and

recommendations. If you would like to take part or find out more please contact:

fmproject@eavesforwomen.org.uk

About the survey

This survey is being conducted as part of a wider project that seeks the views of young

men and young women aged 16-25 on the criminalisation of forced marriage. The

project is independent but is part funded by the Government's joint forced marriage unit.

**About Eaves** 

Eaves is a charity that works against all forms of violence against women. Our services

include frontline service delivery to victims of violence as well advocacy, research and

campaigning.

ii

## Copy of online survey

On 8 June 2012, David Cameron announced that "forcing someone to marry" would be made a crime in England and Wales after several consultations and a wide range of mixed views.

#### Introduction

Thank you for completing this survey, it should only take about 15 minutes. It is anonymous but please confirm your age and gender and that this project potentially has direct relevance to you. This project is intended for 16-25 year olds for whom such policy change may impact on themselves or their friends and family. (If you are keen to share your views and are not the intended participants, please do so but please indicate this).

Further engagement: we are also running two discussion groups (one for young men and one for young women) in 4 sessions over the summer to culminate in a visit to policy and decision makers to present young people's opinions and recommendations. If you would like to take part or find out more please contact: fmproject@eavesforwomen.org.uk

#### About the survey

This survey is being conducted as part of a wider project that seeks the views of young men and young women aged 16-25 on the criminalisation of forced marriage. The project is independent but is part funded by the Government's joint forced marriage unit

#### About Faves

Eaves is a charity that works against all forms of violence against women. Our services include frontline service delivery to victims of violence as well as advocacy, research and campaigning.

About you	
1. Gender	
Male	
Female	
Trans M-F	
Trans F-M	
Prefer not to say	
2. Age	
16 -18	
18 -21	
21.25	
Other (please specify)	
3. Marital Status	
Single	
Married	
Widowed	
Divorced	
Other (please specify)	
4. Relevance - This policy could have a direct impact on:	
Close friends of mine	
Some of my family members	
People in my neighbourhood	
This policy is unlikely to have a direct impact on me or those close to me but I am interested in commenting upon it because	_

The crime of "Forcing someone to marry"
Definition of terms  A forced marriage is defined as one in which one or both parties does not give their full, free and informed consent and where duress (pressure) is a factor. Pressure may take physical, emotional and psychological or financial form. This is not the same as arranged marriage. In an arranged marriage the families take a leading role in choosing the marriage partner but the choice of whether or not to enter the marriage is left to both people.
5. Were you aware that last year the government announced that "forcing someone to marry" would be made a crime?  Yes  No
6. Did you take part in any of the consultations carried out before the decision to criminalise?  Yes No
7. Did you think previously that "forcing someone to marry" should be a crime?  Yes  No
8. Has your view changed since it was announced that it would be made a crime in June 2012?  Yes No
9. Some of the common arguments in favour of making forced marriage criminal are – please tick any you agree with:    It can involve assault, rape and in some cases forced childbirth.   It may also lead to a violent marriage and have long term impacts on mental health.   It can disrupt education, career and financial autonomy   It sends a clear and strong message.   It is an additional argument for young people to use when at risk   It holds everyone accountable to and protected by the same laws  Other (Feel free to add any others of your own)

10. Some of the common arguments against making forced marriage a criminal offence			
are – please tick any you agree with:			
Young people may not seek help because they don't want parents to be "criminals"			
The crimes involved in a forced marriage are already criminal offences			
Families may take young people abroad earlier and for longer			
Forced marriage will still happen but perpetrators will be more careful making it even harder to identify and help those at risk.			
Young people may have a false sense of security wrongly assuming that the fact that that it is a crime means it won't happen.			
It may lead to increased racial stereotyping			
Other (Feel free to add any others of your own)			

hink are - not relevant	Not relevant	Quite relevant	Very relevant
t is the best thing for the young person and for a asting marriage	O	O	O
Fradition, religion, custom or "honour" require it	0	0	0
Pressure from relatives in he parents' home country	0	0	0
Parents have not realised hat times have moved on	$\circ$	0	$\circ$
To control young people and particularly young women's sexuality	0	0	0
To keep money or land in he family	0	0	0
To bring someone to the JK	0	0	0
To control who the young person marries and prevent other relationships	0	0	0
Because the young person s "getting into trouble" Irink, drugs, relationships, betty crime	0	0	0
decause the young person s disabled and needs omeone to look after eer/him		0	0
Because there is a suspicion that the young serson may be gay	0	O	0
t doesn't really happen I's just that people assume it's forced when it sn't	0	0	0
ther (feel free to add others that ye	ou feel relevant)		
			THE RESERVE AND THE PERSON NAMED IN

S	strongly disagree	Disagree	Partially Agree	Agree	Strongly agree
Young people who are padly behaved	0	0	0	0	0
Young people for not standing up for themselves	0	0	0	0	0
Western culture that is immoral and unhealthy	0	0	0	0	0
Racism which stops settled migrant communities mixing	0	0	0	0	0
Cultural relativism - UK authorities are too afraid to intervene	0	0	0	0	0
Migrant communities do not want to mix	0	0	0	0	0
Older generations in the UK and in parents' home countries	0	0	0	0	0
Government agencies like police, social services, schools, health services who do not deal with the problem properly	0	0	0	0	0
Not enough women's/young people's specialist support agencies	0	0	0	0	0
Religious groups and members of the various communities	0	0	0	0	0
Other (Feel free to add others the	hat you feel relevantp	lease specify)			
3. Do you think for yomen)?  Yes  No  Not sure	ceu marriage	ris different	for boys (young	menj anu ic	or giris (young
f you answered Yes, please ex	plain why				

S	trongly disagree	Disagree	Partially Agree	Agree	Strongly agree
Hard for boys to ask for help	0	0	0	0	0
Less male specific services and help available	$\circ$	$\circ$	0	$\circ$	$\circ$
He may already have a partner of his own choice	0	0	0	0	0
It may be a useful way to ensure there is someone to look after his parents	0	0	0	0	0
He may be expected to be an "enforcer" for his siblings so it is difficult for him to refuse.	0	0	0	0	0
He may express his distress with violence and criminality	0	0	0	0	0
Other (please (Feel free to add	others you feel are re	elevant)			
			_		
5. Some of the issu	trongly disagree	apply for gir  Disagree	Is (young womer Partially Agree	Agree	Strongly agree
Some girls who refuse or runaway may have to live n hiding.	0	0	0	0	0
To refuse or runaway is viewed particularly badly of women	0	0	0	0	0
It is likely that the forced marriage will be consummated – this is rape.	0	0	0	0	0
She may have no say over the use of contraception and be forced into childbirth	0	0	0	0	0
If she has to bring him to the UK, he may often be violent and controlling.	0	0	0	0	0
The marriage usually means the end of her education, career or financial autonomy.	0	0	0	0	0
It is particularly hard for a woman in these cases to initiate divorce.	0	0	0	0	0
She may become tied into the marriage by further children	0	0	0	$\circ$	0
Other (please (Feel free to add	others that you feel re	elevant)			
		Mana hata			

Suggestions
16. Please use the space below to make some suggestions you think would help in addressing the problem. This could be recommendations for police, social services, schools, health staff, women's support agencies, central government, courts, young people themselves, parents and elders etc.
17. In answering this survey, have you had any change of views or thought about something differently?  Yes  No
If you answered yes, please explain  18. Would you be interested in participating in a short interview to discuss your views
on this subject? If so please enter your contact details in the box below. (All your details and responses will be kept strictly confidential and any details that could identify you will be removed before publication.)

# **Appendix II: Interview prompts**

#### Introduction

Recapping about the research, likely length of interview, voucher for participation, issues of consent, withdrawal, details about data storage and confidentiality and disclosures

# 1) About you

Name and contact details for safe contact: (anonymous and confidential)

**Age:** 16-18 18-21 21-25

**Gender:** M F Trans M-F Trans F-M Prefer not to say

Marital status: Married Single Divorced

Widowed Relationship Prefer not to say

# Your reason for wishing to participate

- Something to do/voucher
- Issue that is very close to me/people I care about
- Issue that I think is important and interesting
- Rarely get a chance to express views on gvt policy

## **Optional**

**Background**: race/religious background of self/parents, how long since arrived or how long been settled in UK, extended family background overseas, siblings, relations with parents.

**UK location:** first half of post code (will be kept confidential) – current or former when with family

# 2) About marriage/relationships today

- a) People get together in a range of different ways today how useful or not are concepts like forced and arranged marriage today?
- b) How define a forced marriage and how distinguish that from an arranged marriage?
- c) To what extent, if at all, do you think there is a problem with forced marriage?

# 3) Legal and policy context

- a) What do you know and understand the current legal and policy position to be?
- b) Were you aware of proposals to make it criminal or not?
- c) Did you think it was already criminal or not?
- d) Did you take part in any consultations? Were you aware of any consultations? Would you have taken part had you known of any?
- e) If you or a friend/family were at risk, to whom would you turn (if anyone), where would you seek help, what advice would you give?

#### 4) About forced marriage

- a) To the extent that forced marriage does occur what do you think are the main harms associated with it?
- b) Do you think men and women victims are affected in the same way?
- N.B. Push respondents to think about this if not immediately identifying differences in particular focus on hams, help seeking, coping strategies and parental strategies

## 5) Criminalisation

- a) What do you think are advantages to criminalisation?
- b) What do you think are disadvantages to criminalisation?
- c) Overall what is your view what are the practical and philosophical implications of criminalisation criminal or not and have your views changed or not if so how?

# 6) Responsibility

- a) To the extent that forced marriage does occur what do you think are the reasons for it?
- b) To the extent that forced marriage does occur who is responsible for it?

#### 7) Recommendations

End.

a) What do you think are appropriate measures to deal with the issue and how do we go about them - recommendations?

**NB**: consider what the interviewee has posed as main reasons/responsibility and challenge how their solutions address that and detail of how to reach them.

b) Peer support - in view of fact so often young people say they would speak to their peers, how might a peer support network look and how would it be safe?

Eliu.			

Appendix III: Information for participants

About the Project (and see online survey)

https://www.surveymonkey.com/s/72CK38S

In June 2012, the Government said they intended to make "forcing someone to marry" a criminal offence in England and Wales. Eaves has received a small amount of funding from the Foreign and Commonwealth Office to undertake a short research project. It will look into the views and experiences of young people on forced marriage with particular reference to their views on government policies in addressing the issue and how effective or not they may be.

The project aims to:

- Capture young people's views about dating and marriage and relevant cultural, age based or gender factors
- Capture young people's views about forced marriage and government responses to it
- Capture young people's views, recommendations and suggestions about alternative or more effective ways to tackle the problem
- Empower young people to help shape policy and practice on forced marriage

## How we will work with you

We would like to talk to 16-25 year olds, male and female, for whom such policy changes as this [criminalisation of forced marriage] have an impact on themselves, their family or their immediate neighbourhoods.

You do not have to be involved in this research if you do not want to and can withdraw from being involved in the research at any time without any consequences. If you agree to being involved you don't have to answer every question and you can tell us if you answered something which you wish you hadn't and we will delete that information. If you aren't comfortable with any element of the research you do not have to do it and we can take a break if you would like some time out. You also have the right to refuse to let us record any of our discussions.

xiv

Anything you say to us will be kept completely confidential and anonymous. We won't tell *anyone* what you have said and you won't be able to be identified by being involved.

As we are not able to provide formal support to you we might want to refer you for support from someone else. This may mean we need to talk to someone else about you but the only time we might need to do this is in very serious circumstances if we think you or someone else may be at risk of serious harm. Should it happen we will discuss this with you before we take any action.

#### How we will keep any information we discuss with you

Only the researchers you meet on the project and their direct supervisors will have access to any information you provide during the research. We will take out anything which may identify you personally and will store anything with personal details separate from other information.

We will also store all information securely in locked filing cabinets or computers in locked rooms to which only we have access. Any information you provide to us will be stored in this way for the duration of the research and for a period of two years following the publication of any findings. Your written consent to be involved will also be kept on record and you can withdraw this at any point during the research. We will ensure you will not be able to be identified from any findings we publish.

#### Who we are

Eaves has provided specialist services for over 30 years including:

- support and accommodation for women fleeing domestic violence;
- support and advocacy for women affected by all forms of male violence;
- peer-to-peer mentoring for women survivors of sexual violence;
- specialist projects working with young men and attitudes to a range of
- a young women's service;
- a resettlement service;
- an advice centre for women experiencing all forms of violence (including women seeking to exit prostitution);

Support and housing for women who have been trafficked into the UK for

prostitution and domestic servitude;

Policy development, training and research on a range of violence against

women issues.

# Researcher

Heather Harvey, experience includes 3 years at FCO forced marriage unit and 4 years on Stop violence against women campaign at Amnesty International UK

# **Contact Us**

Tel: 020 7 840 7130

Email: <u>Heather.harvey@eavesforwomen.co.uk</u>

fmproject@eavesforwomen.co.uk

Mail: Eaves, Unit 2.03, Kennington Business Park, Canterbury Court, 1-3 Brixton Road,

London, SW9 6DE.

Web: www.eaves4women.co.uk

xvi

# Appendix IV: Project Consent Form

Participants will receive some information about the project, how we will keep and use data and who the researchers are, participants are welcome to ask for any clarifications or further information and can withdraw at any time.

Please read the following information carefully.

I have been given information about the research and how documentation will be kept and used.

By signing below I give consent to take part in this research. At times during the research, opportunities may arise where support is needed from other agencies. In these circumstances, if a referral is appropriate then, with my permission, information can be shared with the agencies with a relevant agency.

Key support agencies with expertise on forced marriage:

Foreign and commonwealth office forced marriage unit

Karma nirvana project

Panahgar refuge

Ashiana Sheffield

Ashiana London

Southall Black Sisters

**Imkaan** 

Iraqi Kurdish women's rights organisations

Imece

Forward

Men's advice line

Broken rainbow

- a) I understand that my details may be passed onto one or more of the agencies listed above in order to support me with my permission. I understand the reasons for this.
- b) I understand that in extreme cases of serious risk to myself or others there may be a legal requirement to disclose information to relevant authorities even without my consent (police, social services, health only in cases where this is a legal requirement or mandatory for immediate safety reasons).

Sign and print Participant	Date
Sign and print Researcher	Date

# **Bibliography**

Anitha, S., Gill, A. (2009) Coercion, Consent and the Forced Marriage Debate in the UK. Feminist Legal Studies, 17 (2): P165-184

Anwar M. (1998) Between Cultures: Continuity and Change in the Lives of young Asians. London Routledge.

Barot R. et al. (1999) Ethnicity, Gender and Social Change. Palgrave McMillian.

BBC (2000) Support for Forced Marriage Victims. bbc.co.uk. Available from: <a href="http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/865419.stm">http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/865419.stm</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

BBC (2010) Banaz Mahmood 'Honour' Killing Counsins Jailed For Life. [online] Available from: <a href="http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-11716272">http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-11716272</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

BBC (2013) At-a-glance : Queen's Speech 2013 bill-by-bill. bbc.co.uk. Available from : <a href="http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-22436103">http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-22436103</a> (Accessed : December 2013)

Bhardwaj A. (2001) Growing Up Young, Asian and Female in Britain: A Report on Self-Harm and Suicide. Feminist Review 68 Summer 2001 p 52-67 (A summary of research undertaken by Newham Asian Women's Project 1998)

Bhopal, K. (1999) South Asian Women and Arranged Marriages in East London in Barot et. al. (eds) Ethnicity, Gender and Social Change. Palgrave McMillian.

British Medical Association (2008) Victims of Forced Marriage: Guidance for Health Professionals. Foreign and Commonwealth Office. Available from: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/forced-marriage">https://www.gov.uk/forced-marriage</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

Bradby, H. (1999) Negotiated Marriage: Young Punjabi Women - Assessment of their Individual and Family Interests in Barot et al (eds) Ethnicity, Gender and Social Change. Palgrave McMillian.

Brandon, J., and Hafez, S. (2008) Crimes of the Community: Honour Based Violence in the UK. Centre for Social Cohesion. Available from:

http://www.vawpreventionscotland.org.uk/resources/research-andreports/crimes-community-honour-based-violence-uk (Accessed : December 2013)

Cerise S. (2011) A Different World is Possible: A Call for Targeted and Long-Term
Action to End Violence Against Women and Girls 2011. Available from:

<a href="http://www.endviolenceagainstwomen.org.uk/data/files/resources/19/a differentworld is possible report email version.pdf">http://www.endviolenceagainstwomen.org.uk/data/files/resources/19/a differentworld is possible report email version.pdf</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

Chantler K., Gangoli G., Hester M. (2009) Forced marriage in the UK: Religious, cultural, economic or state violence? Critical Social Policy. 29:587-612.

Chase S. (2011) Narrative Inquiry: Still a Field in the Making in Denzin N. K. and Lincoln Y.S. (eds) The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research. Sage: London.

Council of Europe (2005) Forced Marriages in Council of Europe Member States; A Comparative Study of Legislation and Political Initiatives Council of Europe. Available from: <a href="http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/equality/03themes/violence-against-women/CDEG(2005)1\_en.pdf">http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/equality/03themes/violence-against-women/CDEG(2005)1\_en.pdf</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

Council of Europe (2011) Convention on Preventing and Combatting Violence Against Women and Domestic Violence [online] Available at : http://www.conventions.coe.int/Treaty/EN/treaties/html/210.htm (Accessed December 2013)

Eversley, J., and Khanom, H. (2002) Forced Marriages in the Bangladeshi Community: A Report. Public Policy Unit, Queen Mary University of London.

FCO (2001) Dealing with Cases of Forced Marriage: Guidelines for Police Officers - 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Home Office, Foreign and Commonwealth Office and Metropolitan Police

Service. Available from: <a href="http://www.forcedmarriage.net/media/images/FMGuidance-for-PoliceOfficers\_108.pdf">http://www.forcedmarriage.net/media/images/FMGuidance-for-PoliceOfficers\_108.pdf</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

FCO (2004) Young People and Vulnerable Adults Facing Forced Marriage: Practice Guidance for Social Workers. Home Office, Foreign and Commonwealth Office, Department for Education and Skills, and The Association of Directors of Social Services. Available from: <a href="http://www.forcedmarriage.net/media/images/FMU-FM-Guidance-SocialWorkers">http://www.forcedmarriage.net/media/images/FMU-FM-Guidance-SocialWorkers</a> 73.pdf (Accessed: December 2013)

FCO (2005) Handling Cases of Forced Marriage: Guidance for Education Professionals. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/forced-marriage (Accessed: December 2012)

FCO (2007) Handling Cases of Forced Marriage: Practice Guidance for Health Professionals. Home Office, Foreign and Commonwealth Office, Department for Health, Children Schools and Families, Communicates and Local Government, Welsh Assembly Government, Association of Chief Police Officers and The Ministry and Justice. Available from:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/35530/forced-marriage-guidelines09.pdf (Accessed : December 2013)

FCO Scottish Executive and Home Office (2006) A Wrong Not a Right: Summary of Responses to the Consultation on the Criminalisation of Forced Marriage. Available from: <a href="http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/1137/0079812.pdf">http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/1137/0079812.pdf</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

Foreign and Commonwealth Office/Home Office (2012) Forced Marriage Unit Statistics January to December 2012. Available from:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/141823/St ats\_2012.pdf (Accessed : December 2013)

Foreign and Commonwealth Office/Home Office (2005) Launch of Forced Marriage Unit and Announcement of Educational Guidelines. Home Office [press release] Available from: <a href="http://www.gov-">http://www.gov-</a>

news.org/gov/uk/news/launch\_forced\_marriage\_unit\_announcement/63764.html (Accessed : December 2013)

FORWARD (2013) New Research on Young People's Views and Experiences of Forced Marriage and Female Genital Mutilation. [press release] Available from:

www.forwarduk.org.uk/download/355 (Accessed: December 2013)

Freeman M. and Klein R. (2012) University Responses to Forced Marriage and Violence Against Women in the UK. The Centre for Family Law and Practice/ Children Women Abuse Studies Unit, London Metropolitan University.

Gangoli, G., Razak, A. and McCarry, M. (2006) Forced Marriage and Domestic Violence Among South Asian Communities in North East England. University of Bristol and Northern Rock Foundation

Gill, A. (2005) Governing violence: gender, community and state interventions in Community Safety Journal 4 (2): 37-45.

Gill A. and Anitha S. (2011) Introducing a Social Justice and Human Rights Perspective. Zed Books.

Gill, A. and Anitha, S. (2009) The Illusion of Protection? An Analysis of Forced Marriage Legislation and Policy in the UK. Journal of Social Welfare and Family Law 31 (3): P257-269.

Hall, S. (1999) Life for 'Honour' Killing of Pregnant Teenager by Mother and Brother. The Guardian [online] Available from :

http://www.theguardian.com/uk/1999/may/26/sarahhall (Accessed : December 2013)

Hemmings J. and Khalifa S. (2013) 'I Carry the Name of my Parents': Young People's Reflections on FGM and Forced Marriage: Results from PEER studies in London, Amsterdam and Lisbon. FORWARD. Available from:

www.forwarduk.org.uk/download/354 (Accessed: December 2013)

Hester, M., Chantler K., Gangoli, G., Devgon, J., Sharma, S. and Singleton, A. (2008) Forced Marriage - The Risk Factors and the Effect of Raising the Minimum Age for a Sponsor and Leave to Enter the UK as a Spouse or Fiancé(e). Home Office/University of Bristol. Available from:

http://www.bristol.ac.uk/sps/research/projects/completed/2007/rk6612/ (Accessed : December 2013)

Hirani v. Hirani (Court of Appeal [1983] 4FLR 232

Home Affairs Committees (2008) Domestic Violence, Forced Marriage and "Honour"-Based Violence. Sixth Report of Session 2007 – 08: Volume II. Available from: <a href="http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200708/cmselect/cmhaff/263/263i.pd">http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200708/cmselect/cmhaff/263/263i.pd</a> (Accessed: December)

Home Office (2000) A Choice By Right: The Report of the Working Group on Forced Marriage. Home Office. Available from:

<a href="http://www.nordaf.co.uk/public/Editor/assets/Library/Forced%20Marriage%20A%">http://www.nordaf.co.uk/public/Editor/assets/Library/Forced%20Marriage%20A%</a>

20Choice%20By%20Right.pdf (Accessed : December 2013)

HM Government (2009) Multi-Agency Practice Guidelines: Handling Cases of Forced Marriage. Available from: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/forced-marriage#guidance-for-professionals">https://www.gov.uk/forced-marriage#guidance-for-professionals</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

Hossein, S. (2000) Abduction for Forced Marriage: Rights and Remedies in Bangladesh and Pakistan. International Family Law. 15-24

Howard L. Trevillion K. and Agnew-Davies R. (2010) Domestic Violence and Mental Health. International Review of Psychiatry. Vol 22 No 5 P525-534.

Humphreys C. and Thiara R. (2003) Mental Health and Domestic Violence: I call it Symptoms of Abuse. British Journal of Social Work 33 (2) p209-226.

Husain M., Waheed W. and Husain N. (2006) Self-harm in British South Asian Women, Psychosocial Correlates and Strategies for Prevention. Annals of General Psychiatry. (5)7.

Iman, F., Eversley, J. and Khanom, H. (2002) Forced Marriage in the Bangladeshi and Somali Communities. Queen Mary University Public Policy Research Unit.

ITV Exposure (2013) 18 Mosques ~Agree to Perform Underage Marriages. ITV [television programme]. First broadcast Sunday 8<sup>th</sup> October 2013. Available from: <a href="http://www.itv.com/news/2013-10-06/uk-imams-agree-to-perform-underage-marriages/">http://www.itv.com/news/2013-10-06/uk-imams-agree-to-perform-underage-marriages/</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

Izzidien S. (2008) Domestic Abuse within South Asian Communities: The Specific needs of Women, Children and Young People. NSPCC London.

K.v.B. (2008) before Parker J. in the Royal Courts of Justice (Family Division RD07NOO031) reported at http://www.dawsoncornwell.com/en/documents/KvB.pdf

Kazimirski A., Keogh P., Kumari V., Smith R. Gowland S., Purdon S. and Khanum N. (2009) Forced Marriage: Prevalence and Service Response. Department for Education. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/forced-marriage-prevalence-and-service-response (Accessed: December 2013)

Khanum, N. (2008) Forced Marriage Family Cohesion and Community Engagement - National Learning, through a Case Study of Luton. Equality in Diversity. Available from: <a href="http://www.reducingtherisk.org.uk/cms/sites/reducingtherisk/files/folders/resources/hbv">http://www.reducingtherisk.org.uk/cms/sites/reducingtherisk/files/folders/resources/hbv</a> forced marriage/FM family cohesion community engagement.pdf (Accessed: December 2013)

Lakhani, N. (2012) UK Forced Marriage Victims Much Younger Than Previously Thought. The Independent [online] Available from:

<a href="http://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/crime/uk-forced-marriage-victims-much-younger-than-previously-thought-7608813.html">http://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/crime/uk-forced-marriage-victims-much-younger-than-previously-thought-7608813.html</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

Magill, C. and Lee, V. (2008) Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) Pilot on Forced Marriage and So-Called 'Honour' Crime Findings. Crown Prosecution Service. London.

McAlpine, C. Gill, A. and Hegarty, P. (2007) 'Why Criminalise Forced Marriage? Islamophobia – and Assimilation-Based justification'. The Psychology of Women Section Review. (9)2.

Ministry of Justice (2010) Forced Marriage: Review of the IDVA Support Pilot (September -2009 – February 2010). Available from: <a href="http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/policy/moj/2010/review-of-the-forced-marriage-support-pilot">http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/policy/moj/2010/review-of-the-forced-marriage-support-pilot</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

Ministry of Justice (2008) One Year On: the Initial Impact of the Forced Marriage (Civil Protection) Act 2007 in its First Year of Operation. Available from: <a href="http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100103073731/http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/10508.htm">http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100103073731/http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/10508.htm</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

Panorama (2013) Secret's of Britain's Sharia Courts. BBC [television programme]. Originally broadcast 26<sup>th</sup> April 2013. Available from: http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/b01rxfit (Accessed: December 2013)

Patel, P. (2008) Defending Secular Spaces. New Statesman [online] Available from: <a href="http://www.newstatesman.com/uk-politics/2008/08/religious-state-secular">http://www.newstatesman.com/uk-politics/2008/08/religious-state-secular</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

Patel, P. (2012) The Use and Abuse of Honour-Based Violence in the UK.

OpenDemocracy. Available from: <a href="http://www.opendemocracy.net/5050/pragna-patel/use-and-abuse-of-honour-based-violence-in-uk">http://www.opendemocracy.net/5050/pragna-patel/use-and-abuse-of-honour-based-violence-in-uk</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

Philips, A. and Dustin, M. (2004) UK Initiatives on Forced Marriage: Regulation, Dialogue and Exit. Political Studies. 52(3).

Prime Minister's Office (2012) Forced Marriage to Become a Criminal Offense. Gov.uk [press release] Available from : <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/news/forced-marriage-to-become-criminal-offence">https://www.gov.uk/government/news/forced-marriage-to-become-criminal-offence</a> (Accessed : December 2013)

Prime Minister's Office (2012b) PM/DPM Statement : Convention on Violencew against Women. Gov.uk [press release] Available from : <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pmdpm-statement-convention-on-violence-against-women">https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pmdpm-statement-convention-on-violence-against-women</a> (Accessed : December 2013)

Razack S.H. (2004) Imperilled Muslim Women, Dangerous Muslim Men and Civilised European: Legal and Social Responses to Forced Marriages. Feminist Legal Studies 12: 129-74.

Refuge (2008) Forced Marriage in the UK: A Scoping Study on the Experience of Women from Middle Eastern and North East African Communities. Available from: <a href="http://refuge.org.uk/files/1001-Forced-Marriage-Middle-East-North-East-Africa.pdf">http://refuge.org.uk/files/1001-Forced-Marriage-Middle-East-North-East-Africa.pdf</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

Revill, J & Asthana, A (2008) 3,000 Women a Year Forced into Marriage in the UK, Study Finds. The Guardian [online] Available from : <a href="http://www.theguardian.com/politics/2008/mar/08/religion">http://www.theguardian.com/politics/2008/mar/08/religion</a> (Accessed : December 2013)

Ritchie J., Spencer L. and O'Connor W. (2003) Carrying Out Qualitative Analysis in Ritchie J. and Lewis J. (eds.) Qualitative Research Practice A Guide for Social Science Students and Researchers. Sage: London.

Roy S., Ng P. and Larasi I. (2011) The Missing Link: A Joined Up Approach to Addressing Harmful Practices in London. Imkaan. London.

Sahgal G. (2004) Two Cheers for Multiculturalism in Imam, A., Morgan, J. and Yuval-Davis, N. (eds) Warning Signs of Fundamentalisms. Available from: <a href="http://www.wluml.org/node/547">http://www.wluml.org/node/547</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

Samad Y. (2010) Forced Marriage Among Men: An Unrecognised Problem. Critical Social Policy. 30(2). p 189-207.

Samad, Y., and Eade, J. (2003) Community Perceptions of Forced Marriage. Foreign and Commonwealth Office. Available from:

http://www.portmir.org.uk/assets/pdfs/community-perceptions-of-forced-marriage.pdf (Accessed : December 2013)

Southall Black Sisters (2001) Forced Marriage : Abuse of Human Rights: One Year After "A Choice by Right" Interim Repot. Available from :

http://www.southallblacksisters.org.uk/forced-marriage-an-abuse-of-human-rights/ (Accessed : December 2013)

Siddiqui, H. (2003) "It Was Written in her Kismet" in R. Gupta (ed) From Homebreakers to Jailbreakers: Southall Black Sisters. London: Zed Books

Singh M. K. (2011) Forced Marriage and Mental Health: Better Health Briefing Paper 24. Race Equality Foundation. Available from:

http://www.raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/publications/downloads/forcedmarriage-and-mental-health (Accessed : December 2013)

Teddie C. and Tashakkori A. (2011) Mixed Method Research: Contemporary Issues in an Emerging Field, in Denzin N. K. and Lincoln Y.S. (eds) The Sage Handbook of Qualitiative Research. Sage: London.

Thiara R. (2005) The Need for Specialist Domestic Violence Services for Asian Women and Children. Imkaan. London.

United Nations (1956) Supplementary Convention on the Abolition of Slavery, the Slace Trade and Institutions and Practices Similar to Slavery. Available from: <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/SupplementaryConventionA">http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/SupplementaryConventionA</a> bolitionOfSlavery.aspx (Accessed: December 2013)

United Nations (2000) Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, Supplementing the United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organised Crime. Available from: <a href="http://www.osce.org/odihr/19223">http://www.osce.org/odihr/19223</a> (Accessed: December 2013)

United Nations (1989) Convention on the Rights of the Child. Available at: http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CRC.aspx (Accessed December 2013)

United Nations (1993) Declaration on the Elimination of Violence Against Women.

Available at: http://www.un.org/documents/ga/res/48/a48r104.htm (Accessed December 2013)

United Nations (1962) Convention on Consent to Marriage, Minimum Age for Marriage and Registration of Marriages. Available from:

<a href="http://www.un.org/womenwatch/directory/consent\_to\_marriage\_10738.htm">http://www.un.org/womenwatch/directory/consent\_to\_marriage\_10738.htm</a>

(Accessed : December 2013)

Voice4Change (2013) The State of the BME Sector. Voice4change-england.co.uk [webpage] Available from : <a href="http://www.voice4change-england.co.uk/content/state-bme-sector-0">http://www.voice4change-england.co.uk/content/state-bme-sector-0</a> (Accessed : December 2013)

Wilson, A. (2007) The Forced Marriage Debate and the British State. Race & Class. 49(1

**END** 

Dec 2013

# "IT'S A HUMAN RIGHTS ABUSE ... END OF!":

A Study of Young People's Attitudes to Forced Marriage and its Gendered Dimensions

- Г
  - > I TOTALLY SUPPORT CRIMINALISATION OF FORCED MARRIAGE, it's fantastic
  - > It's all degrees of persuasion and PEOPLE HAVE DIFFERENT BREAKING POINTS
  - Like quite often the brothers are involved... IT'S THE BROTHER THEY'RE (THE GIRLS) MOST AFRAID OF... It's them that do the beatings and that spy on the girls and carry tales
  - > ISN'T IT STOPPING A BIT NOW? Like with generations and time and stuff...?
  - I mean YOU'RE NOT REALLY GOING TO SAY LOOK I'M BEING FORCED INTO A MARRIAGE like not as a bloke. I mean it's embarrassing really, isn't it?

# **GET IN TOUCH**

**TELEPHONE:** 0207 735 2062

**WEB:** www.eavesforwomen.org.uk

